

Auctioning approaches for ecosystem services – Evidence and applications

Mengistie Kindu, Trang Le Ngoc Mai, Logan Robert Bingham, José G Borges, Jens Abildtrup, Thomas Knoke

► To cite this version:

Mengistie Kindu, Trang Le Ngoc Mai, Logan Robert Bingham, José G Borges, Jens Abildtrup, et al.. Auctioning approaches for ecosystem services – Evidence and applications. Science of the Total Environment, 2022, 853, pp.158534. 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.158534 . hal-03778637

HAL Id: hal-03778637 https://hal.inrae.fr/hal-03778637v1

Submitted on 16 Sep 2022

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés. Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Science of the Total Environment



Review

Auctioning approaches for ecosystem services – Evidence and applications

Mengistie Kindu ^{a,*}, Trang Le Ngoc Mai ^a, Logan Robert Bingham ^{a,b}, José G. Borges ^b, Jens Abildtrup ^c, Thomas Knoke ^a

^a Institute of Forest Management, TUM School of Life Sciences Weihenstephan, Technical University of Munich, Hans-Carl-von-Carlowitz-Platz 2, D-85354 Freising, Germany

^b Forest Research Centre and Laboratory TERRA, School of Agriculture, University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal ^c AgroParisTech, CNRS, INRAE, BETA, Université de Lorraine, 54000 Nancy, France

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Ecosystem Service (ES) auctions call for scientific research.
- We provide a review of the current state of the art of ES auctions.
- Majority of reviewed articles focus on reverse auctions.
- Development of online ES marketplaces remains at an early stage.



ARTICLE INFO

Editor: Paulo Pereira

Keywords: Auctions Ecosystem services Platform Land use/land cover Ecosystem Incentive mechanisms

ABSTRACT

Auctions have attracted growing attention as bidding mechanisms for soliciting or allocating payments for a wide range of ecosystem services (ES). This paper reviews the latest scientific knowledge on ES auctioning approaches. Using systematically selected academic articles, we trace and discuss the development of ES auction literature across space, time, target ecosystem, and mechanism type. We integrate previous attempts to organize this body of work to produce a composite factor map of entry points to more specialized sub-literatures engaging with current issues in auction design and implementation. The results show that most academic work focuses on reverse auctions, where landowners bid their willingness to accept contracts to protect or promote ES provisioning, but we also locate several forward (i.e. beneficiaries bid their willingness to pay for ES) and mixed mechanisms. We critically analyze major advantages and challenges for each approach, emphasizing issues related to transaction costs and accessibility for participants and agencies. Overall, our findings suggest that ES auctions have a robust track record but remain administratively and logistically challenging. Further investment in open-source tools, shared infrastructure, and other efforts to make auctions more accessible to researchers, agencies, and participants alike is strongly indicated.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Materials and methods	3

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: mengistie@tum.de (M. Kindu).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.158534 Received 3 February 2022; Received in revised form 30 August 2022; Accepted 1 September 2022 Available online 6 September 2022 0048-9697/© 2022 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.



3.	Result	ts and dis	cussion						
	3.1.	Ecosyst	em services and auctioning approaches						
		3.1.1.	General overview						
		3.1.2.	Auctioned ecosystems and ecosystem services						
		3.1.3.	ES auctioning approaches						
		3.1.4.	Online bidding						
	3.2.	Advanta	ages and challenges of ES auctioning						
		3.2.1.	Auctions in context: direct incentives for ES						
		3.2.2.	Navigating reverse auctions: a map of key design factors						
		3.2.3.	Forward auctions: applications and design considerations						
		3.2.4.	Synthesis: key opportunities and challenges						
	3.3.	Framew	vork for a web-based auction platform: rationale and design concept						
		3.3.1.	A platform with both reverse and forward mechanisms						
		3.3.2. Considerations for platform users and developers							
	3.4.	Limitati	ons of the review						
4. Conclusions									
CRediT authorship contribution statement									
Declaration of competing interest									
Acknowledgements									
Refe	rences								

1. Introduction

Ecosystem services (ES) are the direct and indirect contributions of ecosystems, e.g. land use/land cover (LULC) types, to human wellbeing and survival (MEA, 2005; Engel et al., 2008; Schägner et al., 2013; Costanza et al., 2014). These include not only provisioning (e.g. food, fiber and water supply), but also regulating (e.g. climate regulation, water purification and disturbance regulation), supporting (e.g. nutrient cycling, pollination and soil formation) and cultural services (e.g. aesthetic and recreation values) (Costanza et al., 1997; De Groot et al., 2002; MEA, 2005; Costanza et al., 2017). However, many ecosystems are seriously vulnerable to human-driven modifications (Martínez et al., 2009; Kindu et al., 2016). Because these impacts affect ES provisioning, they have become a focus of increasing interest (Troy and Wilson, 2006; Butler et al., 2013) and number among the most popular issues in ecological economics (Troy and Wilson, 2006; Bateman et al., 2013).

While the exchange value of some ES like timber, food, or bioproducts can be easily quantified via market transactions, many others-such as carbon sequestration, pollinator support, habitat conservation, or water regulation -are underprovided because they are public goods or common pool resources that lack functioning markets (Krieger, 2001; Whitten et al., 2017; Wainwright et al., 2019). Market failures can drive land-use changes that cause serious ecological and social harm (Alig et al., 2003). For example, treating essential forest ES like carbon storage, water purification, and erosion control as uncompensated externalities can contribute to forest loss and degradation (Chen et al., 2019; Knoke et al., 2020), particularly in the tropics (Foley et al., 2007; Knoke et al., 2021). Securing the health and continued vital existence of ecosystems requires new and better tools to capture the value of the services they provide, and integrate those values into decisionmaking (Franklin Jr and Pindyck, 2018). To this end, a number of regulatory and voluntary instruments have been created to increase the provision of public goods and common-pool resources (Emiris and Marentakis, 2010; Lennox and Armsworth, 2013; Narloch et al., 2013; Adhikari et al., 2017; Cooke and Corbo-Perkins, 2018; Bond et al., 2019).

Market-based instruments can be useful tools for efficiently allocating limited capital to promote the provisioning of environmental public goods (Latacz-Lohmann and van der Hamsvoort, 1997; Ulber et al., 2011; Rolfe et al., 2017). Examples include forest certification (Elbakidze et al., 2022), subsidies to encourage the adoption of agricultural best management practices (Palm-Forster and Messer, 2021), community-based management (Perfect-Mrema, 2022), legal requirements for deforestation offsets (de Freitas et al., 2017), and even direct bargaining between polluters and beneficiaries (Bingham, 2021).

Auctions are a class of designed markets that can be used to increase the efficiency of allocating ES contracts (Buckley et al., 2006; Ferraro, 2008;

Comerford, 2013; Andeltová, 2018; Banerjee and Conte, 2018). They are described by a set of rules that specify how the winner is selected and how the monetary value of the resulting contract is determined (Wolfstetter, 1996; Hailu et al., 2010; James et al., 2021; Glebe, 2022). As possible approaches, auctions can be grouped as reverse or forward. In a reverse auction, providers bid the minimum compensation they would be willing to accept (WTA) to sign a contract obligating them to provide a product or service (Arnold et al., 2013; DePiper, 2014; Valcu-Lisman et al., 2017; Chakrabarti et al., 2018). Generally, buyers are government agencies or NGOs seeking to procure ES on behalf of the public (Greenhalgh et al., 2007). Following Bingham et al. (2021), we use the term forward auction to refer not only to the standard seller's auction, but also to other demand-side mechanisms where beneficiaries bid amounts they would be willing to pay (WTP) to secure the provision of some ES (e.g., Smith and Swallow, 2010). Usually, this is done collectively by pooling conditional financial contributions or commitments to donate. Note that the word "bidder" thus refers to different actors depending on the direction of the auction: in a forward auction, bidders are beneficiaries or indirect stakeholders offering to pay for guarantees about the future supply of some (set of) ES, but in a reverse auction, bidders are providers offering to make these guarantees in exchange for payment. A forward auction bid is an offer to buy; a reverse auction bid is an offer to sell.

Over the last two decades, a growing number of ES auctions have been implemented in contexts ranging from forests (Rousseau and Moons, 2008; Primmer, 2017; Thorsen et al., 2018) and agricultural lands (Latacz-Lohmann and Hamsvoort, 1998; Hellerstein and Higgins, 2010; Schilizzi and Latacz-Lohmann, 2012a,b; Banerjee et al., 2015; Pant, 2015; Palm-Forster et al., 2016a,b; Narloch et al., 2017; Reynolds et al., 2017; Bell and Streletskaya, 2019; Liu et al., 2019), to wetlands (Hill et al., 2011) and coastal areas (Smith and Swallow, 2010). Auctions have been tested in the field (e.g. Stoneham et al., 2003; Groth, 2011; Blackmore and Doole, 2013; Pant, 2015), in laboratory experiments (e.g. Cason et al., 2003; Smith and Swallow, 2010; Boxall et al., 2013), and through various computational models (e.g. Hailu et al., 2011: Iftekhar and Tisdell, 2016: Drechsler, 2017a.b: Choi et al., 2018). Much of this body of research is dedicated to exploring different configurations of design variables for ES auctions, typically comparing economic performance metrics like efficiency or cost-effectiveness between different designs and under different conditions (Comerford, 2014; Liu et al., 2019). In addition, ES auction related reviews are available: for instance, laboratory research (Schilizzi, 2017), conservation tenders in Australia (Rolfe et al., 2017), metric development (Whitten, 2017), spatial coordination incentive design (Nguyen et al., 2022), and the role of disciplinary perspective in shaping the main themes of auction discourse (Bingham et al., 2021). Thus, although several topical literature analyses are available, a comprehensive systematic

M. Kindu et al.

review of where, when, and how auctions have been used to promote ES provisioning is missing.

In order to disseminate work in this dynamic field and encourage continued interdisciplinary collaboration, in this article we set out to systematically map the "where, when, and how" of ES auction research. Using an applied classification system based on criteria like target ecosystem, location, and participant type, we trace the development of the auction literature across time and space, situate ES auctions conceptually in the broader context of direct incentive mechanisms, synthesize major issues for forward and reverse mechanisms, and present a novel concept for an online platform to make auctions more accessible and support further research. Specifically, we address the following questions:

- (1) What are the main approaches, applications (in terms of ecosystems and services), and programs described in the scholarly and gray literatures on ES auctions?
- (2) What are the main advantages and limitations of auction approaches in the ES context?
- (3) What attributes are required to develop a comprehensive framework for a web-based ES auctioning platform?

2. Materials and methods

Using previous review articles as a guideline (Rolfe et al., 2017; Schilizzi, 2017; Bingham et al., 2021; Knoke et al., 2021), our systematic review from query formulation to full text analysis follows the PRISMA diagram (Moher et al., 2009) (Fig. 1). We performed a systematic search carried out up to 2020 and filter of scholarly and gray literature about ES auctions. First, we performed a systematic search of Scopus and Web of Science (WoS) for ES auction research up to 2020 using the keywords (auction AND ecosystem AND service, bid AND ecosystem AND service, conservation auction, conservation tender, procurement auction). After applying a subject area filter, we screened titles and abstracts for relevance, eliminating e.g. studies exploring auctions in the cloud computing environment, those with the auctioned goods not listed in the MEA (2005) (e.g. solar energy), and those without an explicit focus on ES (e.g. auctioning conservation construction projects to contractors). Finally, we screened the remaining full texts using the same criteria as for abstracts: that is, to verify that the text in question substantively engaged with the issue of applying auction mechanisms in the context of supporting the provisioning of ecosystem services as described in the MEA (2005), producing a final systematic sample of 109 articles. To round out the treatment of online tools in the ES auction space, we supplemented this sample with several examples of online auction innovations we selected from the gray literature, producing a final database of 115 items (listed in Supplementary Table S1).

We classified these items according to several criteria to provide a basic outline for comparison and synthesis. From the systematically selected articles, we extracted publication year, research type, geographical location, auctioning mechanism (e.g. forward, reverse, mixed), and target ecosystem and ES considered, then calculated descriptive statistics for each category (RQ1).

Next, we conducted a focused critical analyses of each mechanism type to identify major advantages, challenges, and design considerations (RQ2). For forward and mixed mechanisms, we exhaustively evaluated each design in our database. Because reverse auctions are the focus of a much larger literature, we conducted a meta-synthesis of past reviews and conceptual frameworks for these mechanisms. We identified seven frameworks structuring key sub-problems in the auction space, analyzed overlaps



Fig. 1. Searching and screening process in defining articles for review.

between their component factors, and merged them to produce composite factor map. This map guides readers to sub-literatures focused on specialized auction design problems, and also offers a broad overview of the kinds of problems that reverse auction researchers have prioritized to date. From this critical analysis and literature synthesis, we derive lessons learned and use them to develop a concept for an online hosting platform aimed at expanding the accessibility of auction tools and supporting the mainstreaming of auction research (RQ3).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Ecosystem services and auctioning approaches

3.1.1. General overview

The literature on ES auctions has grown substantially over the last decade (Fig. 2): 88 % of the articles in our sample were published since 2010, at a rate of 5–18 items per year. This shows that the topic has gained increasing scientific attention in recent years. This trend is in line with Schilizzi's (2017) review of laboratory research on conservation auctions showing the number of experimental studies from 2003 to 2014.

Of the 115 items, "case study" was the most prominent classification (34 = 30 %), followed by "mixed" (27 = 23 %), "experiment" (25 = 22 %), and "modelling/simulation or theoretical" (19 = 16 %) (Table 1). Additionally, we identified 6 (5 %) "literature review".

The studies in our sample spanned eight regions (Table 2, Fig. 3). The greatest number of articles were from North America (28 %) and Oceania (18 %)—an expected result considering that the US and Australia pioneered the use of conservation auctions as land management tools at scale with the Conservation Reserve Program (CRP) and BushTender (Hellerstein and Higgins, 2010; Blackmore et al., 2014; Everard, 2018). Europe was the region with the third-highest number of items in our sample (15 %). There were a few items each from Asia (6 %), Africa (5 %), and South America (3 %); we did not locate any studies from Central America or the Caribbean.

About 16 % of the sample could not be allocated to a specific region. Except for one article (a laboratory experiment without geographic information about study participants), all non-region-specific items were literature reviews, model/simulation studies, conceptual frameworks, or a combination thereof.

Of the 32 items from North America, 28 (88 %) were from the USA and four from Canada (12 %). All three South American papers were from the same project.

Fifty-one (45 %) of the items we reviewed were connected to an auction program or project. Of these, more than one-third were related to either a PES (Payments for ES) or PACS (Payments for Agrobiodiversity Conservation Services) program. The other two-thirds were distributed among 20 other programs or projects (Fig. 4). Here, we mean to refer to publications that clearly indicate a relationship to larger research initiatives or PES programs (as opposed to theory papers or isolated one-off experiments, for instance). Such a relationship could take several different forms: for example,



Fig. 2. Distribution of the number of reviewed articles by publication year (n = 115).

Table 1

Summar	v of	f articles	selected	for	systematic	analysis	of the	e review	by type	
	,					,			- / -/	

Research type Nu:	mber of articles
Review 6	
Modelling/simulation/theoretical 19	
Experiment (laboratory/field) 25	
Case study (with real contracts and payments) 34	
Conceptual framework 1	
Report 1	
Brochure/website 2	
Mixed ^a 27	

^a Refers to articles that could not be exclusively allocated to one of the other study types.

a literature review that was conducted in support of a series of international auction experiments funded by a large project grant; using data drawn from a real-world auction program like the CRP to analyze auction design variables or conduct simulations; or reporting results from an auction-based case study or pilot within a larger PES program. The distinction between project and non-project publications can be a fuzzy due to the complex nature of research funding; we draw it here mainly as a way of highlighting especially prominent initiatives as a resource for readers. Table 3 lists the projects/programs together with their number of associated articles. If an article was related to a project, but the project itself was related to another bigger program, that article was classified under the bigger program. For example, the Bobolink Project designed its auction based on the PES scheme. Therefore, the two Bobolink items in the database (Chakrabarti et al., 2014, 2019) were sorted into the PES-related group. The project Spurring INnovations for forest eCosystem sERvices in Europe (SINCERE), on the other hand, is an independent project on its own and not part of any other umbrella of auction program (https://sincereforests.eu/aboutsincere/). Hence it was listed separately in Table 3.

3.1.2. Auctioned ecosystems and ecosystem services

We adopted the list of ecosystem categories from the MEA (2005). We also added two more categories "No specific" (when a specific ecosystem was not mentioned) and "Mixed" (when at least two ecosystems, including 'No specific', were identified in one item). About 42 % (48) of the articles we reviewed considered cultivated land (Fig. 5). Studies not specifying an ecosystem type accounted for the second-largest share of the sample (26 %, or 30 papers). Forest ecosystems accounted for 11 % (13) of the reviewed items. Forest-related studies were distributed among Europe (6), North America (5, all from the USA), Asia (1), and Africa (1). Although Oceania represented the second-largest number of articles in the study, we did not locate any forest-related studies there.

Our systematic selection process did not capture any papers that substantively engage with the Australian Emissions Reduction Fund (ERF), partly because it is not specifically focused on ecosystems or their services and funds projects ranging from transportation efficiency to the capture of fugitive coal mine emissions (Kragt et al., 2017; ERF, 2022). However, the ERF is Australia's foremost climate policy instrument (Schenuit et al., 2021) and a rare example of a government-led voluntary offset program

Table 2	
---------	--

l	DIS	trib	ution	of	reviewed	artic	les	based	on	regior
l	JIS	trid	unon	OI	reviewed	artic	les	Dasea	on	regioi

Region	Countries involved
North America	USA, Canada
Oceania	Australia
No specific region	N/A
Europe	Belgium, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Poland, Portugal, UK
Mixed	Australia, Canada, Germany, USA, Zambia, no specific country
Asia	China, Indonesia, Japan, Nepal
Africa	Kenya, Malawi, Tanzania, Zambia
South America	Bolivia, Peru
Central America	None
The Caribbean	None



Fig. 3. Global distribution of articles on ES auctions across countries (Source: base map from Esri).



Fig. 4. Percentage of reviewed articles having a relation with an auction project/program. Yes = reviewed connected to an auction program or project. No = reviewed not connected to an auction program or project.

Table 3

List of projects/programs related in the review and their number of associated articles (the sum adds to >51 because some articles were related to more than one project/program).

Name of project/program	Web links	Location	Nr. of articles
PES/PACS Program	https://alliancebioversityciat.org/	Worldwide	20
ECOSEL	https://ecosel.cfr.washington.edu/	USA	5
BushTender/ecoTender/Green Gaze	https://www.environment.vic.gov.au/	Australia	5
Burdekin water quality tender	https://acquire.cqu.edu.au/	Australia	4
Conservation Reserve Program (CRP)	https://www.fsa.usda.gov/index	USA	3
SINCERE Project	https://sincereforests.eu	Europe	3
Queensland's Vegetation Incentives Program (VIP)		Australia	2
Catchment Care Australian	https://environment.des.qld.gov.au/	Australia	1
Eastern Mt. Lofty Ranges BushBids project	https://www.cbd.int/	Australia	1
Environmental Stewardship Scheme		Australia	1
Maryland and Virginia auction of Chesapeake Bay	https://www.chesapeakemarketplace.com/	USA	1
Natural Values Trading (Southern Finland Forest Biodiversity Program METSO)	https://www.metsonpolku.fi/en-US	Finland	1
NatureAssist	https://www.qld.gov.au/	Australia	1
NaturEtrade	https://nfmea.sylva.org.uk/	UK	1
North America Waterfowl Management Plan (NAWMP)	https://nawmp.org/	USA	1
SEERAD Scottish fishing vessel decommissioning auctions	https://muse.jhu.edu/article/484304/figure/apptabA2	UK	1
Stormwater Tender		Australia	1
Sustainable Landscape Program in Mackay region		Australia	1
Trading in natural values (TNV) pilot program		Finland	1

M. Kindu et al.



Fig. 5. Ecosystems targeted by auctions in our sample.

based on discriminatory reverse auctions (Grafton et al., 2021). Despite some potentially serious limitations (Burke, 2016; Crowley, 2017; Baumber et al., 2019), the ERF accounts for a large share of Australia's PES expenditures (Keenan et al., 2019) and arguably constitutes one of the largest forest carbon markets in the world (Evans, 2018; Regan et al., 2020).

Thirty-seven studies (32 %) did not specify an ES category (Table 4). Six of these referred to nonspecific forest ES; they encompassed modelling (e.g. Hailu and Schilizzi, 2005; Glebe, 2013; Iftekhar et al., 2014; Polasky et al., 2014; Lundhede et al., 2019), laboratory experiments (e.g. Latacz-Lohmann et al., 2011; Vogt et al., 2013; Vogt, 2015; Messer et al., 2017; Conte and Griffin, 2019), or a combination thereof (Kawasaki et al., 2012). These studies are mostly focused on issues related to mechanism design and bidder behavior, so they are typically decontextualized to some degree and tend not to target specific ES.

In other cases, even contextualized field experiments may decide not to target specific ES because they are action- or outcome-based rather than benefit-based. For example, Andeltová et al. (2019) conducted an auction-based field experiment to increase the forested area on agricultural lands. Rather than focusing on the benefits associated with reforestation, performance indicators included the number of trees planted and survival ratio. Therefore, although planting trees implies increasing the production of multiple ES, the study was classified as 'Ecosystem services in general (not forest-specific)' since it did not focus specifically on any services and the planting took place on farmlands.

Of the studies identifying specific ES, biodiversity/habitat-related services were the most commonly targeted (41 = 36 %) (e.g. Hajkowicz et al., 2007; Windle and Rolfe, 2008; Klimek et al., 2008; Windle et al., 2009; Crossman et al., 2011; Narloch et al., 2011; Reeson et al., 2011; Schilizzi and Latacz-Lohmann, 2011; Iftekhar et al., 2018), followed by water-related services (16 = 14 %) (e.g. Latacz-Lohmann and Schilizzi, 2007; Rolfe and Windle, 2010; Rolfe and Windle, 2011; Schilizzi and Latacz-Lohmann, 2011; Nemes et al., 2015; Takeda et al., 2015), and then by 'mixed' services (e.g. Rolfe et al., 2009; Hill et al., 2011; Jindal et al.,

Table 4

Distribution of reviewed articles based on auctioned ecosystem services.

	Ecosystem services	Number of articles
1	Biodiversity/restoration/habitat	41
2	Ecosystem services in general (not forest-specific)	31
3	Water quality/regulation	16
4	Mixed ^a	14
5	Forest ecosystem services in general	6
6	Soil quality/erosion protection	4
7	Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions/carbon	3
	sequestration	

^a Refers to articles that could not be exclusively allocated to specific ecosystem services.

2013; Whitten et al., 2013; Boxall et al., 2017). The sample addressed soil-related (4 = 3 %) (e.g. Jack et al., 2009; Leimona and Carrasco, 2017; McGrath et al., 2017) and climate-related (3 = 3 %) (Latacz-Lohmann and van der Hamsvoort, 1997; Pant, 2015; Sharma et al., 2019) services much less frequently than the previously mentioned ES. Studies oriented toward biodiversity and soil-related ES are comparatively recent: 2007 was the year of the first study on diversity/habitat-related services as well as for water-related studies, and 2009 for soil-related studies. Climate-focused work is even more recent: since the seminal conservation auction paper by Latacz-Lohmann and van der Hamsvoort (1997), which focused on reducing nitrogen emissions from fertilizers, the next explicitly climate-oriented auction in our database was published almost 20 years later.

3.1.3. ES auctioning approaches

Nearly 90 % of the reviewed papers used reverse (providers-bid) auctions, where landowners bid the price they would like to receive in order to provide the services (Fig. 6) (e.g. Hailu and Schilizzi, 2004; Connor et al., 2008; Mayer et al., 2012; Conte and Griffin, 2017; Holmes, 2017). The preponderance of reverse auctions could be attributable to the fact that many non-market ES are public goods and common-pool resources, the provision of which are typically incentivized by public bodies (Iftekhar et al., 2012a; Kits et al., 2014; Juutinen et al., 2013; Khalumba et al., 2014; Kits et al., 2014; Krawczyk et al., 2016; Flanders, 2018).

All three articles combining reverse and forward auctions (which we call "mixed" mechanisms) were case studies from North America (Chakrabarti et al., 2014; Uchida et al., 2018; Chakrabarti et al., 2019). They tried to establish a market by conducting 2-sided auctions: reverse auction on the supply side, and on the demand side, a kind of forward auction called an individual price auction (IPA) that involves conditionally pledging donations to purchase different levels of ES (Smith and Swallow, 2010).

Of the nine articles exclusively focused on forward (buyers-bid) auctions, five involved the ECOSEL mechanism (USA) (Tóth et al., 2009, 2010, 2013; Rabotyagov et al., 2013; Roesch-McNally et al., 2016). Note that "ECOSEL" is a project name, not an acronym. One article was from the project NaturETrade (UK), which originally planned to use a subscription mechanism similar to ECOSEL but selling individual ES rather than multi-service bundles (Dericks, 2014), though the project ended before auctions could be implemented. The remaining three articles exclusively using forward auctions were also experiments conducted in the USA using IPAs to ascertain public willingness to pay for public goods (Smith and Swallow, 2010, 2013; Liu et al., 2019). In these studies, the public goods were not produced by private landowners: two studies targeted restoration of a local coastal area (Smith and Swallow, 2010, 2013), while the third involved a laboratory experiment with student participants, asking their WTP for different amounts of unspecified public goods (Liu et al., 2019). In this group of articles, only ECOSEL features a competitive element: by this we mean that bidders make decisions to support, mutually-exclusive management alternatives (and thus different combinations of ES). Only ECOSEL and the Bobolink Project involve the use of forward mechanisms to procure ES produced on private land, although Uchida et al. (2018) purchase management changes on private lands that affect water quality in a public reservoir. This is important, as procuring ES from private landowners requires a different set of tools and incentives than environmental management on public lands-especially when private landowners derive income from their properties.

Although experiences and innovations from low-income countries have strongly shaped the literature surrounding reverse ES auctions (Whitten, 2017; Whitten et al., 2017; Wünscher and Wunder, 2017), we were unable to locate any examples of forward auctions outside North America. This discrepancy might be partly explained by different use cases and requirements (e.g. forward auctions may not be attractive in places where beneficiaries have limited disposable income). In a review limited to recent ES auction publications, however, Bingham et al. (2021) suggest that forward auctions are rare in general. Indeed, despite assembling a sample that is twice as



Fig. 6. Distribution of reviewed articles based on auction mechanism.

extensive and which spans a much longer time horizon, we only add two additional studies to this category, both published in the last decade (Dericks, 2014; Chakrabarti et al., 2014). This implies that forward auctions may be concentrated in North America not because they are non-viable elsewhere, but rather because they represent a relatively recent innovation that has yet to diffuse to other regions. If true, extensions to other geographic contexts could offer opportunities for future study.

3.1.4. Online bidding

At its most basic, an online auction platform might do little more than serve as a digital informational brochure, postbox, and bookkeeper. The forward auction component of the Bobolink Project, for example, featured a project website where bidders could learn about the project, complete a bid form, and back up their bid pledge with a credit card payment (Chakrabarti et al., 2019). Similarly, a reverse auction to improve water quality in the River Fowey (UK) built an online portal where farmers could register an account, provide information about their farm's type and size, and submit multiple-round bids (Day and Couldrick, 2013). The online platform was not essential to the auction in either of these cases; both accepted bids by post. However, Chakrabarti et al. (2019) note that people who used the online method tended to pledge larger donations. Meanwhile, a report about the River Fowey project expressed reservations, noting the software and technical expenses associated with developing even a relatively simple platform entails operational and administrative transaction costs that could potentially reduce auction efficiency.

Examples of more ambitious platforms include ECOSEL and NaturEtrade (Table 5). The ECOSEL platform allows buyers to bid for alternative forest management plans, each of which is designed to produce a different "bundle" of multiple ES, by donating to their preferred plan(s) in the context of a competitive subscription game (see Section 4 for a detailed analysis). Bundles are generated by combining forest growth models with multi-objective optimization. The platform has not yet hosted real transactions, although it has been explored through laboratory experiments

Table 5

Comparison of two pilot auction platforms.

	ECOSEL ^a	NaturEtrade ^b
Location	USA	UK
Target	Forest ES (timber, carbon	Agri-environmental ES (water
	storage, old growth habitat)	regulation, flood management)
Project period	2009-2014, 2020-2022	2013-2018
Auction type	Forward	Reverse. Forward planned ^c but not yet
		implemented; trading platform only

^a https://ecosel.cfr.washington.edu.

^b Reverse: https://nfmea.sylva.org.uk Forward: https://zoo-naturetrade.zoo.ox. ac.uk/.

^c Dericks (2014). All links accessed 26 March 2021.

(Rabotyagov et al., 2013) and mock auctions (Tóth et al., 2010, 2013). An online demonstration offers an overview of the concept (https://ecosel.cfr.washington.edu).

Whereas ECOSEL offers multi-objective optimization, NaturETrade's platform features an online mapping tool where farmers can demarcate their parcels to obtain estimates of its potential to provide multiple ES. This information can be integrated into an online trading platform hosting a marketplace for providers and beneficiaries. The platform is designed so that user accounts can act as both buyers and landowners (https://zoo-naturetrade.zoo.ox.ac.uk/). In the flood management case study, farmers compete for government financing to implement flood protection measures through a reverse auction (https://nfmea.sylva.org.uk/login).

3.2. Advantages and challenges of ES auctioning

3.2.1. Auctions in context: direct incentives for ES

An expansive body of research has accumulated around efforts to develop and vet a diverse array of regulatory and incentive-based approaches to support sustainable resource use, from externality-correcting taxes (Cherry et al., 2017) and supranational initiatives to combat illegal logging (Rutt et al., 2018) to voluntary carbon markets (Regan et al., 2020; Streck, 2021), direct bargaining (Bingham, 2021), and consumer-oriented eco-labelling initiatives (Delmas and Gergaud, 2021). Deep engagement with that much larger body of literature lies beyond the scope of this article, but interested readers will find no shortage of attempts to map its contours (e.g. Requate, 2005; Pacheco-Vega, 2020; Ejelöv et al., 2010; Meckling and Allan, 2020), and—crucially—assist policymakers in selecting instruments that are well-matched to objectives, constraints, and context (e.g. Pannell, 2008; Bryan et al., 2016; Villamayor-Tomas et al., 2019).

Where might auctions fit in this crowded and increasingly differentiated ecosystem? Although they belong—broadly speaking—to the PES and MBI paradigm (Gómez-Baggethun et al., 2010; Pirard and Lapeyre, 2014; Wunder et al., 2020), ES auctions are a relatively young area of inquiry, and systematic efforts to integrate them into the environmental management toolbox are not yet well-developed (Fitzsimons and Cooke, 2021). This is especially true for forward auctions, which are theoretically entangled with subscription games, crowdfunding, and charitable giving (Liu et al., 2019; Bingham et al., 2021). Insofar as they aim mainly to efficiently generate, rather than allocate, funds for PES procurement, forward auctions are arguably more of a piece with the literature on public goods valuation than direct incentives in the strict sense. Since we only located a handful of studies on this topic and just two field experiments (Uchida et al., 2018; Chakrabarti et al., 2019), this section focuses specifically on reverse auctions: what they are, and what they are not.

As non-cooperative games, reverse auctions are constellations of incentives and information asymmetries whose configuration determines equilibrium strategies and thus, ideally, in-game behaviors (Milgrom, 1979; Banerjee et al., 2015). But although the game contains incentives, it is not itself an incentive: it has no intrinsic value to the bidder except as a path to a potential reward. Similarly, while it is not uncommon to encounter references to "auction programs", this is just a convenient shorthand: auctions are not "programs" in the standard PES usage (i.e. voluntary contractual arrangements between providers and beneficiaries featuring conditional payments) (Wunder, 2015). Instead, auctions are components of programs with a specific function, which is to determine how incentives should be allocated.

This delimitation renders the prospect of conducting a comparative analysis somewhat more approachable. If an agency wants to prevent nutrient runoff and leaching from agricultural fields, it must first choose between pursuing a strategy based on command-and-control instruments, taxation, efforts to support industry self-regulation, and so on (Pannell, 2008; Pacheco-Vega, 2020). Only after it decides to pursue its goal by offering direct incentives to stimulate farmers to adopt groundwater-friendly management does the question of allocation arise. Who gets paid, and how much?

The agency might consider an open enrollment mechanism. Interested farmers could sign up to receive a flat-rate subsidy, or perhaps request reimbursement for approved expenses through a cost-share program (Campbell et al., 2021; Eberhard et al., 2021). Alternatively, a competitive grant program might be offered: farmers submit funding proposals, which are then scored by an expert jury. Options like these are familiar and comparatively easy to administer, despite red tape surrounding eligibility and expense documentation. But they also carry significant limitations.

The cost-effectiveness of flat subsidies often declines with increasing opportunity cost heterogeneity: farmers with low costs might extract large rents, while those with high costs might be excluded even if their activities have a disproportionate environmental impact (Parkhurst et al., 2016; Thorsen et al., 2018). Cost sharing requires farmers to front their own capital, and easy-to-reimburse expenditures on supplies and equipment only capture part of their opportunity costs, ignoring e.g. yield risk due to fertilizer reduction (Bergtold et al., 2019; van Oosterzee et al., 2020). Grants are vulnerable to abuse because it can be difficult and time-consuming identify inflated cost claims, and selection processes must be carefully designed to avoid issues relating to transparency, legitimacy, and corruption (Doocy et al., 2008; Maljković, 2016).

Reverse auctions were designed with challenges like these in mind. Farmers name their own opportunity costs while facing competitive disincentives against inflating their cost claims; budgetary allocations can account for opportunity cost heterogeneity; farmers do not have to exhaustively document expenditures and are free to price a risk premium into their bids; and selection processes generally follows clear, understandable rules, improving perceptions of transparency even if some need for professional judgment remains (Hellerstein, 2017; Cramton et al., 2021).

Reverse auctions are often classified based on how payments to winning bids are calculated (Bingham et al., 2021; Schilizzi, 2017). The two most common pricing rules are discriminatory and uniform. Recall that in reverse auctions, a bid consists of an offer to sell something at a price specified by the bidder. The auctioneer collects all the bids, arranges them in ascending order, and accepts all bids below a certain threshold, which is usually defined either by a procurement target or a budgetary constraint. Discriminatory or "pay-as-bid" pricing means that each bidder within the threshold will be paid the price that they asked for. Uniform pricing means all bidders within the threshold will be compensated at a flat rate equivalent to the price specified by the first bid outside the threshold (i.e. winners will generally receive a higher payment than the requested, but never a lower one). Overpayment is built into the design of uniform price auctions because it is believed to disincentivize bid shading, or overstating one's opportunity costs. Which of these pricing rules delivers more efficient results in different contexts is subject to debate and a focus of ongoing research (Iftekhar and Latacz-Lohmann, 2017; Boxall et al., 2017; Schilizzi, 2017; Lundberg et al., 2018).

Of course, auctions-like all mechanisms-entail efficiencyeffectiveness-equity trade-offs, which can vary substantially based on context and mechanism design. Because they select for low-opportunity cost bidders, reverse auctions can backfire, reducing additionality by targeting low-cost but low-threat parcels (Arnold et al., 2013; Jackson et al., 2017; Burke, 2016; Evans, 2018), although flat subsidies can face similar problems. In small communities, bidders might collude to extort higher prices (Jindal et al., 2013; Fooks et al., 2016). Reverse auctions can employ different protocols for calculating payments: if winners are paid the price they bid, there may be large discrepancies in how neighbors are compensated despite producing similar services-but if the auction instead determines a uniform price, then low-cost bidders reap higher profits than their highcost neighbors. Because auctions are competitive mechanisms, they may produce results that are seen as distasteful or even unfair (e.g. awarding the largest contracts to the richest landowners) (Narloch et al., 2011; Leimona and Carrasco, 2017). Although auctions are generally considered transparent, they are not immune from controversy (McGrath et al., 2017).

Finally, auction dynamics may be sensitive to technological change. Our review identifies a range of efforts to support auctions with various technological and computational adjuncts like advanced optimization tools (Tóth et al., 2010; Iftekhar and Tisdell, 2016; Lewis and Polasky, 2018; Hajkowicz et al., 2007) and simulations of ES response to management changes (Uchida et al., 2018), with the integration of artificial intelligence (e.g. Rammer and Seidl, 2019) likely soon to follow. Simultaneously, the cost of obtaining detailed site assessment data to feed models and improve cost-benefit targeting continues to decline with the development of increasingly sophisticated remote and "near sensing" techniques, from satellite sensors and multispectral imaging to handheld LIDAR and terrestrial laser scanning (e.g. Pascual et al., 2022; Jacobs et al., 2021; Martos et al., 2021; Sebald et al., 2021). Using these tools could greatly improve the precision and cost-effectiveness of bid targeting and postcontract compliance checks, but it could also erode the transparency of auctions and leave bidders feeling informationally disadvantaged. While the increasing power and availability of these tools will have far-reaching implications for the environmental management and policy toolbox as a whole, auctions are competitive instruments that hinge on dynamics related to asymmetric information and participation patterns (Bond et al., 2018; Rolfe et al., 2018, 2021; Nguyen et al., 2022), which could make them especially sensitive to technological change.

Having situated auctions within the broader context of policy tools and incentive mechanisms, the following subsections take a more granular look at some key design variables in forward and reverse auctions.

3.2.2. Navigating reverse auctions: a map of key design factors

Much of our sample is devoted to investigating design problems, such as examining the effects of modifying specific factors related to mechanism, program implementation, or context. As the ES auction literature has grown, so has the number of relevant variables. We identified a set of articles aiming to better structure the problem space through conceptual frameworks. These frameworks highlight relationships between auction design considerations and performance factors identified by more narrowlyframed primary research (Table 6). Because auctions are ultimately allocation mechanisms for PES contracts, some analyses incorporate PES considerations that are not specific to auctions, such as leakage and conditionality (Jack and Cardona Santos, 2017; Wünscher and Wunder, 2017).

We merged these frameworks to provide a general overview of key functional interfaces between compartments and factors (Fig. 7). Schilizzi (2017) proposes a three-stage framework to organize auction attributes into (1) *causal factors* related to mechanism, program, context, and pre-existing bidder characteristics, (2) *intermediate effects* that refer to behaviors within the auction game, and (3) *final effects* that determine mechanism performance. We adopted this three-stage structure as a backbone and appended factor clusters drawn from the remaining six frameworks while avoiding duplication. In some cases, the overlap was significant: building on Ferraro (2008), for instance, Whitten et al. (2017) outline eight core tender design considerations, six of which are also shared by Schilizzi (2017).

M. Kindu et al.

Table 6

Key sources for structuring auction design problems.

	Focus of framework	
1	Context-matching allocation, price, and targeting	Lundberg et al. (2018)
2	Core auction design variables and country context	Whitten et al. (2017); adapted with minor changes from Ferraro (2008)
3	Analysis of conservation tenders	Schilizzi (2017)
4	Participation and market entry decisions	Rolfe et al. (2018); Rolfe et al. (2022)
5	Design factors to support participation	Whitten et al. (2013)
6	Contextual factors for auctions in low-income countries	Wünscher and Wunder (2017)
7	Designing metrics for bid targeting and scoring	Whitten et al. (2017)

Even so, generating this meta-framework required significant simplification. For instance, we list factors but refer readers to the source frameworks for explanatory examples and further explanation using the key in Table 6.

The duplication of factors across frameworks dealing with different aspects of the auction process highlights the multifunctional nature of the design problem. Notably, participation has emerged as one of the most important determinants of auction performance (Rolfe et al., 2022), revealing an alternate pathway by which auction design variables impact outcomes: design variables intended to influence in-game behaviors can also shape self-selection from the pool of eligible bidders. We represent this participation effect as a colored tier horizontally linking causal factor compartments, and vertically connecting causal factors to intermediate effects. This

participation band highlights key factors identified mainly by Whitten et al. (2013) and Rolfe et al. (2018), but this does not mean that other factors are irrelevant. Whitten et al.'s (2013, 2017) frameworks for contract design and tender metrics also create horizontal linkages. While contract elements are generally disclosed in advance and thus affect participation and bidding behavior, metric design details may not be. If they are, prospective bidders may use them to make inferences about the stringency of the process and associated risks and transaction costs. Because the bid pool defines the possibility space, the effects of each factor cluster on auction outcomes are all ultimately mediated by who participates.

Spatial criteria offer a good example of this. Imagine a purchaser with a strong preference for procuring contiguous parcels, because they expect high habitat connectivity to promote biodiversity in a planned conservation area (Drechsler, 2017a; Fooks et al., 2016). The auction designer might introduce a minimum area threshold or require group bids, but this comes at the cost of restricting the pool of eligible bidders. Instead, they could offer applicants an incentive for submitting group bids, or a bonus if their submission is adjacent to another accepted parcel (agglomeration) (Drechsler, 2017b; Drechsler et al., 2010). But this, too, could have a cascading effect that changes the performance of other factors in Fig. 7. Some community members, like those who are well-connected, might be more likely to participate; those who are sensitive to complexity and transaction costs might be deterred (Banerjee, 2018; Nguyen et al., 2022). The process of assembling a group bid could present opportunities for collusion (Thorsen et al., 2018), and some may underbid their costs in anticipation of obtaining a bonus, risking winner's curse (Liu et al., 2019). In short, the addition of a single small bonus could require changes to the auction format, eligibility criteria, metric selection, bid formulation process, and contract design.



Fig. 7. Composite factor map for overview of key functional interfaces between compartments and factors.

DPA = Discriminatory price auction, UPA = Uniform price auction, BMP = best management practice. Superscript sources refer to Table 6. [1] Lundberg et al. (2018). [2] Whitten et al. (2017). [3] Schilizzi (2017). [4] Rolfe et al. (2018). [5] Whitten et al. (2013). [6] Wünscher and Wunder (2017). [7] Whitten et al. (2017).

Table 7

Studies using forward auction mechanisms.

0			
Mechanism	Target ecosystem	Study focus	Reference
ECOSEL	Forest ES (timber, carbon, mature forest	Theoretical formulation and mock auction pilots	Tóth et al. (2009, 2010, 2013)
	habitat)	Testing design variables (induced value laboratory experiment)	Rabotyagov et al. (2013)
		Qualitative exploration of experience of mock auction participants	Roesch-McNally et al. (2016)
IPA	Coastal (bird habitat, sea grass shellfish)	Field experiment to test incentive compatibility and free riding	Smith and Swallow, 2010
	Non-specific	Theoretical introduction and research overview	Smith and Swallow, 2013
	Agro-ecosystems, watershed service	Field experiment establishing markets through a double auction (IPA + reverse auction)	Uchida et al. (2018)
	Non-specific	Testing design variables (induced value laboratory experiment)	Liu and Swallow (2019)
	Agroecosystem (bird nesting habitat)	Field experiment establishing markets through a double auction (IPA + reverse auction)	Chakrabarti et al. (2014, 2019)

3.2.3. Forward auctions: applications and design considerations

Unlike reverse auctions, forward auction research consists primarily of a handful of studies built around two mechanisms, ECOSEL and the IPA (Table 7). Both involve asking ES beneficiaries to make trade-offs between cost and ES provision, and both pool bids to crowdfund a budget that can be expended only if bidders' procurement objectives are met. However, they differ in how trade-offs are evaluated and the information that can be extracted from bid data (Bingham et al., 2021, pp. 28–29). While IPAs typically target a single management change (e.g. conservation) and ask bidders to name their WTP for placing increasing areas under contract, ECOSEL asks bidders to make trade-offs between multiple ES in a fixed area. Below, we offer a brief critical analysis of each approach.

3.2.3.1. Individual price auctions. The IPA approach is rooted in the economics of non-market resource valuation, and particularly Lindahl pricing (Smith and Swallow, 2013). Although the underlying theory is not trivial, the IPA process itself is fairly straightforward: each bidder privately specifies a series of philanthropic donations they would be willing to make in exchange for increasing levels of ES provision, with the caveat that each donation will accepted if and only if the auctioneer can successfully procure the corresponding provision. After collecting all bids, the auctioneer pools them together to set the budget available for each provision level, then attempts to procure the highest level of provision possible (Chakrabarti et al., 2019; Uchida et al., 2018). It is an "individual price" auction because each bidder specifies their own WTP for each provision level: none pay more than they pledged or receive less than they paid for. Thus, deliberate underbidding is weakly discouraged: it risks forgoing provision for which one would have been willing to pay. Free and cheap riding have been observed experimentally, but at relatively low levels (Liu and Swallow, 2019; Swallow, 2013).

From start to finish, the process resembles a stated preference survey—except, of course, that the costs are not hypothetical. Indeed, comparative studies suggest that bid data from IPAs can approximate marginal WTP curves obtained through traditional stated preference methods (Smith and Swallow, 2013). This is arguably the IPA's distinguishing feature: by combining a private marginal WTP elicitation with real but conditional monetary pledges, it can generate not only an actual conservation budget, but also analytically tractable valuation data. The downside is that the bidding process can be substantially more time- and labor-intensive than the frictionminimizing donation funnels that typically accompany philanthropic solicitations, so there is an opportunity cost to data collection (Chakrabarti et al., 2019; Munz et al., 2020). Future research might seek to mitigate this cost by implementing technical and marketing solutions to reach a wider audience and streamline the bidding process.

The relatively time-consuming bidding process for IPAs is one reason they typically focus on procuring a single management action or even a single ES: the solicitation procedure would likely be too cumbersome if multiple services are included (Chakrabarti et al., 2019). Anecdotally, however, PES programs sometimes seek to "bundle" social and environmental cobenefits, so that by purchasing one ES (e.g. biodiversity) they know they will also receive another (e.g. pollination services) (see e.g. Summers et al., 2021; Baumber et al., 2019). It should be possible to strategically design IPAs to leverage co-benefits in a similar way, although it may be challenging to communicate this in the bid solicitation. The next subsection examines a mechanism designed to make these trade-offs explicit.

3.2.3.2. ECOSEL. ECOSEL is less concerned with producing clean valuation data than with generating financially attainable compromises in multifunctional management problems (Tóth et al., 2010; Bingham et al., 2021). Rather than seeking to construct balanced, unbiased bid solicitation questionnaires, it is geared toward creating a dynamic, interactive market. The base use-case envisions a privately-owned landscape of public interest (e.g. a productive forest with local recreation value), where the owner's opportunity costs for implementing a range of ES-friendly management alternatives can be reliably estimated through modelling and optimization.

The process works like this. First, bidders are presented with a set of mutually-exclusive ES provisioning scenarios, represented as Paretoefficient "bundles" of multiple ES that can be produced by different management plans (Tóth et al., 2013; Roesch-McNally et al., 2016). Here, Pareto efficiency means that in order to increase the provision of one ES, the provision of another must be reduced (see Debreu, 1954 explaining the principle from a consumer perspective). Over the course of several rounds, bidders provisionally commit money to their preferred bundles. After each round, the total sum contributed to each bundle is revealed, and bidders have the option to change their allocation. A final binding round determines if any bundles are profitable (i.e. Bid sum - Reserve price > 0). If so, the profit-maximizing bundle is selected for implementation (though other market-clearing rules are possible). A PES contract is signed, donations to the winning bundle are transferred to the landowner, and all other bids are released back to bidders. The interactive nature of this process means that bidding behavior may strategically respond to, and seek to manipulate, the balance of bid totals across bundles and rounds. If communication is allowed and bids are not sealed, social signaling might influence behavior as well. Thus, the extent to which actual preferences can be inferred from bidding behavior is unclear.

Configuring an ECOSEL auction, therefore, is not a trivial problem. Important factors include choice variables (e.g. the number of ES per bundle, the number of bundles per auction); community variables (e.g. eligibility rules, sealed or open bids, communication structure), and design variables (e.g. reserve price disclosure, market-clearing rules).

The choice variables are closely linked. The optimal number of ES per bundle has not yet been investigated empirically, but the number of alternatives needed represent the decision space can be expected to increase exponentially with the number of attributes (Garcia-Gonzalo et al., 2014; Mariel et al., 2021; Obeng et al., 2021). Because ES bundles correspond to points on a Pareto frontier defined by continuous decision variables, the auctioneer is free to offer as many bundles as they like. Although a wider selection might help bidders accommodate their preferences to a certain extent, the number of bundles that the mechanism can feasibly handle is likely to be restricted by cognitive and procedural factors. Cognitively, people struggle to compare large numbers of alternatives and alternatives composed from large numbers of attributes, relying on heuristics like attribute nonattendance that weaken the connection between choice behavior and their true preferences (Thiene et al., 2019). Procedurally, spreading donations thinly across too many bundles might mean reserve price, not community preference, determines the auction outcome. While laboratory evidence suggests that reducing the number of bundles can increase seller profit without reducing the relative efficiency of the auction (Rabotyagov et al., 2013), this may not be true for real-world settings. Finding the balance between offering a selection that is wide enough to attract a large bidder pool, but not so wide that it triggers decision fatigue or impedes coordination, will likely require practical experience.

Community variables are also likely to entail trade-offs. While most crowdfunding projects seek to maximize the pool of potential donors, ECOSEL's decision-making function means that outcomes may be viewed as more legitimate if they are determined by local stakeholders rather than wealthy external interests (Roesch-McNally et al., 2016). Similarly, sealed bids may enable bidders to be more honest about their preferences, but open bids and efforts to facilitate communication between bidders could stimulate pro-social behaviors and increase donations. Although earlier work was equivocal (Tóth et al., 2009), Rabotyagov et al. (2013) find that facilitating limited communication between bidders can increase the relative efficiency of ECOSEL auctions.

Finally, the effect of disclosing design information like reserve price requires further study (Rabotyagov et al., 2013). On the one hand, sellers can use reserve price disclosure strategically, much like anchoring with an exorbitant initial ask when bargaining, bluffing in poker, or setting a fundraising goal on a crowdfunding site (Yang, 2014; Pope et al., 2015; Kuo et al., 2018; Backus et al., 2019). On the other hand, bidders who know the reserve price—even if it is inflated—can use it to calibrate their bids and avoid overpayment (Rabotyagov et al., 2013). If reserve prices are sealed, however, sellers should set them equal to cost to maximize the chances that the provision point will be met (Dericks, 2014). The administrator of an ECOSEL auction, therefore, may have to decide whether it is more important to reveal landowner opportunity costs, or to maximize the likelihood that the auction will succeed by giving bidders a clear goal to work toward.

3.2.4. Synthesis: key opportunities and challenges

The decades-long effort to bring auction mechanisms to bear on environmental management is aimed squarely at a deceptively simple problem: how to allocate scarce budgetary resources in a way that maximizes environmental benefit. In practice, solving this problem has often meant fusing mechanism design innovations with environmental modelling and even decision support tools. The ES auction literature has attended closely to issues related to asymmetric information and risk (Bingham et al., 2021), but uncertainties in estimated ES production functions, particularly under growing natural disturbance risk, are likely to pose challenges moving forward.

First of all, the perceived reliability of model predictions about how ES flows will respond to management changes could have a strong influence on bidding patterns. Providers who see model predictions for market ES like timber as overly pessimistic (Knoke et al., 2008), or model predictions for non-market ES as overly optimistic, may demand a risk premium to accept an outcome-based contract (Derissen and Quaas, 2013); similarly, beneficiaries could steeply discount future provision that is perceived as uncertain (Davies, 2020). Thus, model uncertainty and natural disturbance risk could have the combined effect of reducing forward auction bidders' maximum WTP, and increasing reverse auction bidders' minimum WTA. This could be a troubling dynamic for mixed mechanisms, since it exacerbates the risk of a budgetary mismatch between beneficiaries making smaller donations and providers demanding higher payment; further experiments are needed. Finally, of course, rigorously evaluating the performance of auctions designed to induce land-use changes-likely to be vital for continuing to mainstream these tools-also requires navigating significant environmental and economic uncertainties regarding baseline conditions and counterfactual reference conditions. In short, auction scholarship should probably invest in developing methods for communicating uncertainty in a way that is intuitive for beneficiaries, providers, and policymakers alike. This project will require interdisciplinary collaborations between ecologists, land managers, economists, and science communicators. Previous research has explored the role of extension services (Rolfe et al., 2017; Whitten et al., 2013) and managing environmental and economic risk through contract design (Ferraro, 2008; Wichmann et al., 2017), certification (Tóth et al., 2013), and insurance elements (Palm-Forster et al., 2016a,b, 2017), but transferable methods to quantitatively communicate model uncertainty and disturbance risk to auctioneers and bidders are largely missing.

A preliminary foundation for that work might be established by expanding the use of qualitative research methods to improve our understanding of how participants interpret and experience these competitive processes. While the incorporation of interviews into reverse auction field studies is not uncommon (Cooke and Corbo-Perkins, 2018; Leimona and Carrasco, 2017), buyer perspectives are lacking for forward mechanisms. ECOSEL has only been tested in laboratory settings, so the perspectives of actual bidders are not known-though Roesch-McNally et al. (2016) interviewed real stakeholders who participated in a mock ECOSEL auction. For IPAs, Chakrabarti et al. (2019) describe exchanges (but not formal interviews) with real-life donors, while Uchida et al. (2018) recount interactions from a forward auction workshop. Further effort to build up a holistic, multidimensional understanding of the experience of real auction participants (and less reliance on reading the process through the eyes of Homo economicus) could shed light on participation issues and strategies for representing uncertainty alike (Cooke and Lane, 2018; Leroy and Barrasa Garcia, 2021; Mariola, 2012).

Of course, communication is only part of the problem: mechanisms and targeting metrics should be developed to account for uncertainty as well. While most treatments focus on private information in non-cooperative games (e.g. Wichmann et al., 2017), some work has begun to engage more directly with uncertainties about the ecological future. Notably, Lewis and Polasky (2018) describe a reverse auction mechanism that accounts for climate risk by soliciting bids for conservation in a current and future period, then using dynamic programming to select winning bids in a spatially explicit way. Thus, ES auctions may offer new applications for risk-sensitive environmental planning tools like stochastic programming (e.g. Eyvindson and Kangas, 2016) and robust optimization (Knoke et al., 2020). For instance, constructing Pareto frontiers based on robust solutions (Zhou et al., 2018) could guarantee bidders minimum provision levels. We expect risk integration to represent an important step in the mainstreaming of ES auctions.

The prospect of multi-objective mechanisms or multicriteria bid selection metrics could also expand the scope of application for ES auction tools. Intuitively, single-objective environmental auctions are likely best suited to programs based on land-sparing: i.e., procuring area to set aside either through a forward (e.g. IPA) or reverse (e.g. a simple conservation tender) approach. Given increasing land-use competition and the ascendency of paradigms like multifunctional forestry (Schulz et al., 2022; Takahashi et al., 2022) and sustainable/ecological intensification (Kleijn et al., 2019; Knoke et al., 2022), however, this neglects a broad spectrum of possible land-sharing-based PES designs that require trade-offs between multiple criteria in addition to biophysical modelling uncertainty (Paul et al., 2017; Borges et al., 2017; Keith et al., 2017; Manning et al., 2018). For reverse auctions, these challenges are rendered navigable, in part, by the presence of a central decision-maker with the scientific capacity to interpret models, impose criteria weights, and make trade-offs on behalf of the public (Bingham et al., 2021; Lowell et al., 2007). Forward auctions do not have this luxury. ECOSEL is the only forward auction tool currently targeting the multicriteria land-sharing niche, but it comes at a cost: unlike IPAs, ECOSEL is unlikely to generate generalizable ES valuation data to inform environmental policy beyond specific contexts.

Finally, the importance of accessibility for forward and reverse mechanisms alike is difficult to overstate. With reference to bidders, accessibility is about driving participation: who hears about the auction, the ease with which information about the program design and desired treatment can be located, and overall friction inherent in the process of communicating

with administrators, formulating and submitting bids, setting expectations for post-contract monitoring, and so on. With reference to agencies, accessibility has to do with the demands on technical capacity imposed by such a complex mechanism. This includes things like basic familiarity with common design configurations, the ability to effectively field stakeholder inquiries about the bidding process and desired management changes, the infrastructure to handle and process potentially large amounts of data (especially if using metrics that rely on spatial or other site-specific data), and processes for receiving and/or disbursing potentially large payments. An agency considering implementing an auction-based program must consider not only how to access and coordinate economic and environmental expertise, but also keep in mind a plethora of logistical subproblems related to outreach, scheduling, information management, document review, and so on. Mainstreaming auctions means making them more accessible to agencies and bidders alike. That is partly a scientific project, but it is also partly a practical one that can be advanced by developing technical resources to reduce barriers to adoption and market entry.

3.3. Framework for a web-based auction platform: rationale and design concept

On a very broad level, this review identifies a fairly large number of reverse auction tools applied to the ES context, two forward mechanisms (ECOSEL and IPAs), and two examples of field experiments that combines a forward auction for funding with a reverse auction for procurement to create markets for ES (Chakrabarti et al., 2019; Uchida et al., 2018). We also located a number of environmental programs featuring auction-based contract allocation mechanisms, ranging from small-scale case studies and pilot programs to large-scale programs like the US CRP and Australia's BushTender and EcoTender (Table 3). Most or all of these programs appear to have built the requisite administrative infrastructure from scratch, and typically in ways that are not transferable to other organizations. This is a major transaction cost for academic case studies and real-world programs featuring auction mechanisms.

Indeed, transaction costs have been repeatedly identified as a major impediment to the uptake and efficiency of auctions for ES (Messer et al., 2017; Schilizzi, 2017; Whitten et al., 2017; Bingham et al., 2021). Even if an auctioneer already has the institutional competence to design an auction that is well-matched to context and objectives (i.e. neglecting learning costs), it would still likely face important transaction costs like bidder outreach and communication, establishing a bid submission protocol, and implementing processes to receive bids, organize the information they contain, check them for completeness, and evaluate them, and-in the case of multi-round auctions-communicate provisional and final results to bidders. These processes and associated infrastructure, such as websites with online bid submission functions, are typically built anew each time a new actor decides to hold an auction (e.g. the Bobolink Project, NaturEtrade). Reducing these transaction costs might help facilitate more field research, make auctions more accessible to interested organizations who are deterred by logistical complexity, and streamline market entry for bidders to improve participation rates.

This section, then, sketches a conceptual framework for a centralized online platform for hosting ES auctions. Key features include: (1) guiding users (buyers or sellers of ES) to an appropriate auction type; (2) allowing them to locate ongoing auctions they may be eligible to participate in, or to create their own auction; and (3) facilitating administration of the auction process itself.

One important advantage of an online platform is the possibility of using eligibility criteria to easily scale auctions from local to regional, national, or international scales without the need to reconstruct the basic bidding architecture. For example, an environmentally-conscious consumer in Germany might bid in an ECOSEL-like auction to improve local water regulation provided by a forest in Vietnam; forest owners around the world might bid in carbon tenders funded by international or cross-regional organizations. There is no question that such arrangements would have to navigate complex issues surrounding governance, monitoring, contract enforceability, and legal compliance, which have been discussed at length in the PES literature, particularly with respect to initiatives like REDD + (McAfee, 2012; Rodriguez-Ward et al., 2018; Oberhauser, 2019; Gifford, 2020; Fleischman et al., 2021). These are not challenges that an online platform can resolve, and they may ultimately preclude efforts to apply the platform we sketch below in cross-border contexts. In some cases, it may be desirable to restrict eligibility to the local or regional scale to target a specific ecosystem or "to maintain process legitimacy (Roesch-McNally et al., 2016); see also Lundhede et al. (2022a,b) for reverse auction pilots in Denmark and Belgium." Nonetheless, even auctions run at highly local scales may face fixed administrative costs that could be alleviated to some extent by the availability of a versatile, user-friendly platform where auction parameters can be configured, auctioneer-bidder communications hosted, and payments transacted.

Our framework therefore serves as a generic outline to be adjusted to specific contexts, which may be defined by legal frameworks, technology, data availability, personnel, socio-cultural factors, and so forth. The outline is also general enough that it could be adopted and implemented by a range of potential responsible entities, from university-administered platforms supported by government grants like ECOSEL or the EU's Copernicus database (Lacava et al., 2020; Tóth et al., 2013), which might later be handed off a non-profit as in the case of the Bobolink Project (Chakrabarti et al., 2019); to platforms run by charitable foundations like Restor.eco (Crowther et al., 2022) or private entities like environmental consultants or technology companies supporting implementing open data projects like the Google Earth Engine (Gorelick et al., 2017).

3.3.1. A platform with both reverse and forward mechanisms

The auctioning platforms we identified only consider either reverse (e.g. Day and Couldrick, 2013) or forward mechanisms (e.g. Roesch-McNally et al., 2016). The question is whether it would be possible to create a marketplace where buyers and sellers can meet, and bid conveniently in ongoing auctions for which they are eligible, or to start a new auction.

Prospective ES providers and beneficiaries represent different use cases for the platform. Thus, Fig. 8 illustrates how these user categories might be oriented to the appropriate interface. Although the roles of being a bidder or hosting an auction could change, one feature that normally would not change is whether such person is an owner (hence a service seller or provider) or a service buyer (beneficiary). In the first step (1), the platform will require users to create their profile as either a seller or a buyer. In the (presumably rare) case where an owner wants to subsidize services provided by another owner, a seller can create a new account as buyer, and vice versa. In the second step (2), once logged in to their account, users decide whether they want to buy or sell. Depending on their answer and their identity as seller or buyer, they should be taken into either a reverse or a forward sub-site in the third step (3). In the last step (4), the platform automatically displays the correct interface: a person wanting to bid should get access to a pool of available auction campaigns hosted on the platform, while a person wanting to organize an auction should be directed to a control management board where they can create a new auction, make changes, and see statistics for previous or ongoing campaigns. In creating an auction, the interface should walk users between simple design decisions with short explanations (e.g. forward vs. reverse, discriminatory vs. secondprice, rounds and time limits, reserve price disclosure, etc.).

A platform that hosts both forward and reverse auctions would provide opportunities to further experiment with two-stage mechanisms—one of the most intriguing and under-explored possibilities identified in our review. The Bobolink Project offers an intuitive model: first use a forward auction to crowdfund donations, then hold a conservation tender to procure as much area as possible (Chakrabarti et al., 2019). The presence of the reverse auction might even reassure bidders that their donations will be used transparently and cost-effectively, which could increase their willingness to donate.

Linking ECOSEL to a reverse auction would require more reconfiguration. The original ECOSEL papers (Tóth et al., 2010; Rabotyagov et al., 2013; Roesch-McNally et al., 2016) envision a setting in which one large forest owner uses ECOSEL as a channel through which stakeholders can



Fig. 8. Framework - Steps to identify the correct user account.

shape how that forest is managed. A procurement auction, by contrast, requires multiple landowners to compete for contracts. We can envision two possible avenues for adjusting ECOSEL to match such a use-case.

The first possibility is to follow the simple forward-for-budget, reversefor-procurement sequence used in the Bobolink Project. This requires a small reconfiguration to ECOSEL's current design because information about landowner opportunity costs is only generated in the second phase, precluding the possibility of communicating reserve prices in the forward auction (i.e. the Pareto frontier would be generated using only ecological, but not financial, criteria). Doing so would make strategic bidding more difficult: in the absence of reserve price information, bids might better reflect stakeholders' preferences for different ES. The forward auction selects the winning bundle and sets the budget. Next, the reverse auction seeks to procure combination of ES represented by the winning bundle.

In such a model, the winner determination problem could take several forms. A logistically challenging but computationally simple approach would be to hold a reverse auction where each landowner bids their willingness to accept a contract to implement the winning bundle, which would be replicated across all selected parcels. A logistically simple but computationally intensive alternative would be to hold a combinatorial reverse auction (Iftekhar et al., 2012a,b,c) so that the selected proposals cumulatively produce the winning bundle, even if individual parcels do not. If smallholders are organized into joint management areas that submit collective bids, solutions from the Pareto frontier might be decomposed and distributed across smaller management units (Marques et al., 2021). Much as forward auction bidders pool funds, allowing landowners to pool existing ES production in a reverse auction might mitigate the "lumpiness" problem in bid selection (Iftekhar et al., 2018). This could also enable environmental (Baumber et al., 2019; Standish and Prober, 2020) and social cobenefits associated with cooperation, communication, and community management-dynamics that reverse auctions have been criticized for impeding (Cooke and Corbo-Perkins, 2018; Fitzsimons and Cooke, 2021).

The most obvious problem with using ECOSEL as the first component of a two-stage mixed mechanism is the risk of auction failure. Without reserve price information, the first phase could result in a budgetary constraint that precludes any meaningful procurement at all. Data collection, optimization, donor outreach, and auction administration become sunk costs.

A second possibility might be to invert the Bobolink Project's model and lead with a reverse auction. As before, an initial Pareto frontier would be generated featuring only ES trade-offs. Using this frontier, a set of bundles expected to be attractive to the larger community might be selected based on market research (e.g. a stakeholder consultation or choice experiment). A reverse auction would then used to solicit the opportunity costs of implementing the selected bundles for each landowner. The absence of a budgetary constraint would not be problematic in itself, since conservation tenders regularly conceal this information to deter collusion (Messer et al., 2017). In the final step, a standard ECOSEL auction (complete with reserve prices) would be used to identify the community's preferred bundle and generate the funds to purchase it. Again, however, the risk of the reverse auction concluding with prohibitively high reserve prices is a serious one: a potentially expensive and time-intensive process might fail to lead to a transaction, and management defaults to the status quo.

In light of these considerations, we stress that an online platform would not automate away the need for ecological, economic, or legal expertise. Forward auctions are young tools requiring further research, and the possibility of combining them with reverse auctions to create markets for ES is an even more recent innovation. Nonetheless, the transaction costs associated with web development, public outreach, bid submission and processing, and data management are not negligible. The current need to build these processes from scratch is not only an impediment to research, but also contributes to the sunk cost risk in the case of auction failure. A userfriendly online platform like the one sketched in this section could serve as a lubricant, making these challenges more manageable and facilitating experimentation.

3.3.2. Considerations for platform users and developers

Table 8 summarizes four types of potential users (based on the framework presented above) together with examples of the legal proof they might to provide in order to be officially registered.

Platform developers should strive to communicate scientific information in practical language. Measurements of ES values should be scientifically valid, but the presentation of this information to bidders needs to be understandable (Rode et al., 2016). This issue is analogous to the relationship between back-end and front-end software development: the former ensures the technical functionality while the latter translates it into a usercentered experience. Illustrative and simple communication tools, such as infographics, animations, and drawings should be utilized to improve accessibility. It may be beneficial to allow users to customize the level of detail (e.g. choosing between a two-page summary of highlights, and a comprehensive performance report).

Because spatial information can be critical for both forward and reverse auctions, a general-purpose platform for ES auctions will likely require an intuitive, user-friendly mapping tool where landowners can upload coordinates or highlight vectors indicating the location and boundaries of relevant parcels (see NaturEtrade for an interactive mapping example). This feature could also allow bidders to browse available auctions based on geographic location or landscape characteristics. The Restor project, originally founded by the Crowther Lab at ETH Zurich, offers another compelling example of integrating user-friendly mapping features for ES (https://www.restor. eco). An ongoing reverse auction pilot in Denmark also incorporates an online bidding tool with a user-friendly mapping function; more details on the project are forthcoming (Lundhede et al., 2022a,b).

Table 8

Framework - analysis of platform users and their initial checklist.

User type	Auction mechanism	User description	Legal proof required	Initial checklist
Sellers bidding	Reverse (procurement)	 Forest owners who want to be paid to change their management practices. General landholders who want to plant trees or re/afforest their land. 	Forest/land ownership or holder rights.	 Enough knowledge/experience to implement the management changes. Good information on own implementation and opportunity costs and how the outcomes will be monitored
Sellers organizing auctions	Forward (subscription, donation)	 Landholders who want to be paid to change their management practices and who have good understanding and capacity to host an auction. General landholders who want to raise funds for the forest (donation). 	Forest/land ownership or holder rights.	 Data (from inventories, simulation, etc.) on the services provided by each management plan. Decision on auction formats, implementation, contract details. Transparent information on how the expected outcomes will be monitored and evaluated. For donations: PayPal or similar tools to enable quick payment
Buyers bidding	Forward (subscription, donation)	 Private/public entities or individuals who want to voluntarily contribute to continued ES provision Private/public entities or individuals who want to purchase offsets (e.g. carbon, biodiversity). 	Proof of identity might not be required for anonymous donation.	 Fundamental knowledge or willingness to learn about different FES and the specific forest being auctioned. Online payment (credit/visa card, PayPal) in case of quick donation.
Buyers organizing auctions	Reverse (procurement)	 Usually public entities with conservation funds. 	Legal identity and legal approval to conduct the auction.	 Data (from inventories, simulation, etc.) on values of ecosystem services to evaluate bids. Decisions on auction formats, implementation, selection criteria, contract details. Establishment of a monitoring and evaluation system.

3.4. Limitations of the review

In this article, we have attempted to present a relatively broad overview of current state of the ES auction space, as well as a roadmap to further resources and previous reviews about better-studied facets of this literature. However, several important limitations should be highlighted.

Readers should take note that this review has sometimes prioritized breadth over resolution and granularity. For instance, we mention issues relating to contextual variables like geographical, political, and governance effects on auction design strategies in passing. Similarly, we have merged, grouped, and summarized design factors and considerations without deeply engaging with variations, interlinkages and design considerations that mediate how these elements interact in practice. Representing topics like "risk and uncertainty", "additionality", or "compliance" as discrete, unitary factors is necessarily reductive. While significant open questions remain regarding these topics, it is also true that substantial scholarly effort has been invested in both constructing and dissecting them, as well as exploring their mutual interactions. We have tried to provide readers with some useful entry points into these topics (see e.g. the composite map in Fig. 7), but we stressed that this is an imperfect effort to capture a rich and dynamic body of literature; it should be viewed as an introductory adjunct, not an exhaustive elaboration of the anatomy of auction research.

The framework proposed in this study outlines how forward and reverse auctions might be integrated into an online platform. However, it does not address how those auctions should be designed given a specific context and set of objectives. Making decisions about auction format, implementation rules, and contract conditions is an extremely complex task that should take into account local cultural, legal and institutional conditions.

4. Conclusions

This review takes stock of a growing collection of academic and gray literature exploring the adaptation of auction tools to promote the provision of ES. Overall, we assess that auction tools have a strong potential to improve the cost-effectiveness of programs aimed at supporting ES provisioning through direct incentives. Nearly 90 % of the articles in our sample use reverse auction mechanisms, which have a well-developed theoretical foundation and a non-negligible track record of field trials and applications. Even so, there is ample room to expand the application of these tools to additional real-world settings. We argue that this robust track record, combined with the administratively challenging process associated with realworld implementations, should justify further investment in open-source tools and shared infrastructures improve the accessibility of ES auctions for researchers, agencies, and participants. To facilitate future experimentation, we sketch a framework for an online platform for hosting customizable forward and reverse auctions, which could improve the accessibility of auctions and potentially connect buyers with sellers.

Finally, issues relating to ES modelling uncertainty and natural disturbance risk are likely to play a growing role in the development of ES auctions. To some extent, auction tools require bidders to make their own judgments about relevant financial and environmental risk factors. However, efforts to base compensation on environmental outcomes (rather than compliance with prescribed management changes) might benefit from improved science communication regarding uncertainty and risk, as well as decision tools that account for input variability and stochastic disturbance. Addressing these issues will require further interdisciplinary collaboration between economics, social sciences, statistics, environmental modelling, and decision science. This kind of interdisciplinary exchange lies at the foundation of the ES auction field, and we expect it to remain a major catalyst for insight and innovation as ES auction research scales up its contribution to reconfiguring environmental-economic incentive structures in the face of a mounting global sustainability crisis.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.158534.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Mengistie Kindu: Conceptualization; Investigation; Methodology; Resources; Supervision; Validation; Visualization; Writing – original draft, review & editing. Trang Le Ngoc Mai: Conceptualization; Data collection; Formal analysis; Investigation; Methodology; Visualization; Writing – review & editing. Logan Robert Bingham: Visualization; Writing – review & editing. José G. Borges: Writing – review & editing. Jens Abildtrup: Writing – review & editing. Thomas Knoke: Conceptualization; Funding acquisition;
 Project administration; Resources; Supervision; Writing – review & editing.

Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare the following financial interests/personal relationships which may be considered as potential competing interests: Mengistie Kindu reports financial support was provided by European Union's Horizon 2020.

Acknowledgements

The study has emerged from the project NOBEL, "Novel business model and mechanisms for the sustainable supply of and payment for forest ecosystem services", which is part of the ERA-NET Co-fund Forest Value. Forest Value is a project of European Union's Horizon 2020 Program, grant agreement # 773324. Mengistie Kindu receives funding from NOBEL and Logan Bingham from the European Commission Training Network (project Skill-For.Action, grant agreement # 956355). Finally, we would like to thank three anonymous reviewers for their insightful and constructive feedback on our paper.

References

- Adhikari, R.K., Kindu, M., Pokharel, R., Castro, L.M., Knoke, T., 2017. Financial compensation for biodiversity conservation in Ba Be National Park of Northern Vietnam. J. Nat. Conserv. 35, 92–100.
- Alig, R.J., Plantinga, A.J., Ahn, S., Kline, J., 2003. Land Use Changes Involving Forestry in the United States: 1952 to 1997, With Projections to 2050: Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-587. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Portland, OR, U.S. (96 pp.).
- Andeltová, L., 2018. Action-Based and Outcome-Based Payments for Environmental Services: An Experimental Auction for Tree Planting Contracts in Kenya. PhD. ThesisRheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn, Bonn (128 pp.).
- Andeltová, L., Catacutan, D.C., Wünscher, T., Holm-Müller, K., 2019. Gender aspects in action- and outcome-based payments for ecosystem services—a tree planting field trial in Kenya. Ecosyst. Serv. 35, 13–22.
- Arnold, M.A., Duke, J.M., Messer, K.D., 2013. Adverse selection in reverse auctions for ecosystem services. Land Econ. 89, 387–412.
- Backus, M., Blake, T., Tadelis, S., 2019. On the empirical content of cheap-talk signaling: an application to bargaining. J. Polit. Econ. 127 (4), 1599–1628.
- Banerjee, S., 2018. Improving spatial coordination rates under the agglomeration bonus scheme: a laboratory experiment with a pecuniary and a non-pecuniary mechanism (NUDGE). Am. J. Agric. Econ. 100, 172–197.
- Banerjee, S., Conte, M.N., 2018. Information access, conservation practice choice, and rent seeking in conservation procurement auctions: evidence from a laboratory experiment. Am. J. Agric. Econ. 100, 1407–1426.
- Banerjee, S., Kwasnica, A.M., Shortle, J.S., 2015. Information and auction performance: a laboratory study of conservation auctions for spatially contiguous land management. Environ. Resour. Econ. 61, 409–431.
- Bateman, I.J., Harwood, A.R., Mace, G.M., Watson, R.T., Abson, D.J., Andrews, B., Binner, A., Crowe, A., Day, B.H., Dugdale, S., Fezzi, C., Foden, J., Hadley, D., Haines-Young, R., Hulme, M., Kontoleon, A., Lovett, A.A., Munday, P., Pascual, U., Paterson, J., Perino, G., Sen, A., Siriwardena, G., van Soest, D., Termansen, M., 2013. Bringing ecosystem services Into economic decision-making: land use in the United Kingdom. Science (New York, N.Y.) 341, 45–50.
- Baumber, A., Metternicht, G., Cross, R., Ruoso, L.E., Cowie, A.L., Waters, C., 2019. Promoting co-benefits of carbon farming in Oceania: applying and adapting approaches and metrics from existing market-based schemes. Ecosyst. Serv. 39, 100982.
- Bell, S.D., Streletskaya, N.A., 2019. The random quantity mechanism: laboratory and field tests of a novel cost-revealing procurement mechanism. Environ. Resour. Econ. 73, 899–921.
- Bergtold, J.S., Ramsey, S., Maddy, L., Williams, J.R., 2019. A review of economic considerations for cover crops as a conservation practice. Renew. Agric. Food Syst. 34 (1), 62–76.
 Bingham, L.R., 2021. Vittel as a model case in PES discourse: review and critical perspective.
- Ecosyst. Serv. 48, 101247.
 Bingham, L.R., Da Re, R., Borges, J.G., 2021. Ecosystem services auctions: the last decade of research. Forests 12, 578.
- Blackmore, L., Doole, G.J., 2013. Drivers of landholder participation in tender programs for Australian biodiversity conservation. Environ. Sci. Pol. 33, 143–153.
- Blackmore, L., Doole, G., Schilizzi, S., 2014. Practitioner versus participant perspectives on conservation tenders. Biodivers. Conserv. 23, 2033–2052.

Bond, A.J., O'Connor, P.J., Cavagnaro, T.R., 2018. Who participates in conservation incentive programs? Absentee and group landholders are in the mix. Land Use Policy 72, 410–419.

- Bond, A.J., O'Connor, P.J., Cavagnaro, T.R., Magrach, A., 2019. Remnant woodland biodiversity gains under 10 years of revealed-price incentive payments. J. Appl. Ecol. 56, 1827–1838.
- Borges, J.G., Marques, S., Garcia-Gonzalo, J., Rahman, A.U., Bushenkov, V., Sottomayor, M., ... Nordström, E.M., 2017. A multiple criteria approach for negotiating ecosystem services supply targets and forest owners' programs. For. Sci. 63 (1), 49–61.
- Boxall, P.C., Perger, O., Weber, M., 2013. Reverse auctions for agri-environmental improvements: bid-selection rules and pricing for beneficial management practice adoption. Can. Public Policy 39, S23–S36.
- Boxall, P.C., Perger, O., Packman, K., Weber, M., 2017. An experimental examination of target based conservation auctions. Land Use Policy 63, 592–600.
- Bryan, B.A., Runting, R.K., Capon, T., Perring, M.P., Cunningham, S.C., Kragt, M.E., ... Wilson, K.A., 2016. Designer policy for carbon and biodiversity co-benefits under global change. Nat. Clim. Chang. 6 (3), 301–305.
- Buckley, N.J., Mestelman, S., Muller, R.A., 2006. Implications of alternative emission trading plans: experimental evidence. Pac. Econ. Rev. 11, 149–166.
- Burke, P.J., 2016. Undermined by adverse selection: Australia's direct action abatement subsidies. Econ. Pap. 35 (3), 216–229.
- Butler, J.R., Wong, G.Y., Metcalfe, D.J., Honzák, M., Pert, P.L., Rao, N., van Grieken, M.E., Lawson, T., Bruce, C., Kroon, F.J., Brodie, J.E., 2013. An analysis of trade-offs between multiple ecosystem services and stakeholders linked to land use and water quality management in the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 180, 176–191.
- Campbell, K.M., Boyer, C.N., Lambert, D.M., Clark, C.D., Smith, S.A., 2021. Risk, cost-share pay ments, and adoption of cover crops and no-till. J. Soil Water Conserv. 76 (2), 166–174.
- Cason, T.N., Gangadharan, L., Duke, C., 2003. A laboratory study of auctions for reducing non-point source pollution. J. Environ. Econ. Manag. 46, 446–471.
- Chakrabarti, A., Swallow, S., Anderson, C., 2014. Marketing Ecosystem Services Using a Lindahl-Style Individual Price Auction Mechanism: A Case Study From Vermont. University of Washington. Agricultural & Applied Economics Association, 27 July 2014, Minneapolis, MN.
- Chakrabarti, A., Liu, P., Swallow, S., 2018. Implementing reverse auctions with screening criteria to provide ecosystem services. Agricultural & Applied Economics Association Annual Meeting, Washington, D.C., August 5–August 7, 2018.
- Chakrabarti, A., Chase, L., Strong, A.M., Swallow, S.K., 2019. Making markets for private provision of ecosystem services: the Bobolink Project. Ecosyst. Serv. 37, 100936.
- Chen, W., Chi, G., Li, J., 2019. The spatial association of ecosystem services with land use and land cover change at the county level in China, 1995–2015. Sci. Total Environ. 669, 459–470.
- Cherry, T.L., Kallbekken, S., Kroll, S., 2017. Accepting market failure: cultural worldviews and the opposition to corrective environmental policies. J. Environ. Econ. Manag. 85, 193–204.
- Choi, P.-S., Espínola-Arredondo, A., Muñoz-García, F., 2018. Conservation procurement auctions with bidirectional externalities. J. Environ. Econ. Manag. 92, 559–579.
- Comerford, E., 2013. The impact of permanent protection on cost and participation in a conservation programme: a case study from Queensland. Land Use Policy 34, 176–182.
- Comerford, E., 2014. Understanding why landholders choose to participate or withdraw from conservation programs: a case study from a Queensland conservation auction. J. Environ. Manag. 141, 169–176.
- Connor, J.D., Ward, J.R., Bryan, B., 2008. Exploring the cost effectiveness of land conservation auctions and payment policies. Aust. J. Agric. Resour. Econ. 52, 303–319.
- Conte, M.N., Griffin, R.M., 2017. Quality information and procurement auction outcomes: evidence from a payment for ecosystem services laboratory experiment. Am. J. Agric. Econ. 99, 571–591.
- Conte, M.N., Griffin, R., 2019. Private benefits of conservation and procurement auction performance. Environ. Resour. Econ. 73, 759–790.
- Cooke, B., Corbo-Perkins, G., 2018. Co-opting and resisting market based instruments for private land conservation. Land Use Policy 70, 172–181.
- Cooke, B., Lane, R., 2018. Plant–human commoning: navigating enclosure, neoliberal conservation, and plant mobility in exurban landscapes. Ann. Am. Assoc. Geogr. 108, 1715–1731.
- Costanza, R., d'Arge, R., de Groot, R., Farberk, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S., O'Neill, R.V., Paruelo, J., Raskin, R.G., Sutton, P., van den Belt, M., 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature 387, 253–260.
- Costanza, R., de Groot, R., Sutton, P., van der Ploeg, S., Anderson, S.J., Kubiszewski, I., Farber, S., Turner, R.K., 2014. Changes in the global value of ecosystem services. Glob. Environ. Chang. 26, 152–158.
- Costanza, R., De Groot, R., Braat, L., Kubiszewski, I., Fioramonti, L., Sutton, P., Farber, S., Grasso, M., 2017. Twenty years of ecosystem services: how far have we come and how far do we still need to go? Ecosyst. Serv. 28 (2017), 1–16.
- Cramton, P., Hellerstein, D., Higgins, N., Iovanna, R., López-Vargas, K., Wallander, S., 2021. Improving the cost-effectiveness of the Conservation Reserve Program: a laboratory study. J. Environ. Econ. Manag. 108, 102439.
- Crossman, N.D., Bryan, B.A., King, D., 2011. Contribution of site assessment toward prioritising investment in natural capital. Environ. Model. Softw. 26, 30–37.
- Crowley, K., 2017. Up and down with climate politics 2013–2016: the repeal of carbon pricing in Australia. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Clim. Chang. 8 (3), e458.
- Crowther, T.W., Thomas, S.M., van den Hoogen, J., Robmann, N., Chavarría, A., Cottam, A., Cole, R., Elliott, T., Clark, E., Max, S., 2022. Restor: transparency and connectivity for the global environmental movement. One Earth 5, 476–481.
- Davies, H.J., 2020. Money Doesn't Grow on Trees: How to Increase Funding for the Delivery of Urban Forest Ecosystem Services?. (Doctoral dissertation)University of Southampton
- Day, B., Couldrick, L., 2013. Payment for Ecosystem Services Pilot Project: The Fowey River Improvement Auction. Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, Final Report, 19 September.

- de Freitas, F.L.M., Sparovek, G., Mörtberg, U., Silveira, S., Klug, I., Berndes, G., 2017. Offsetting legal deficits of native vegetation among Brazilian landholders: effects on nature protection and socioeconomic development. Land Use Policy 68, 189–199.
- De Groot, R.S., Wilson, M.A., Boumans, R.M., 2002. A typology for the classification, description and valuation of ecosystem functions, goods and services. Ecol. Econ. 4, 393–408.
- Debreu, G., 1954. Valuation equilibrium and Pareto optimum. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 40 (7), pp. 588–592.
 Delmas, M.A., Gergaud, O., 2021. Sustainable practices and product quality: is there value in
- eco-label certification? The case of wine. Ecol. Econ. 183, 106953.
- DePiper, G.S., 2014. To bid or not to bid: the role of participation rates in conservation auction outcomes. Am. J. Agric. Econ. 97, 1157–1174.
- Dericks, G., 2014. NaturEtrade: Economics, Auction Design, and Review of Contracts: LIFE12 ENV/UK/000473 Inception Report (39 pp.).
- Derissen, S., Quaas, M.F., 2013. Combining performance-based and action-based payments to provide environmental goods under uncertainty. Ecol. Econ. 85, 77–84.
- Doocy, S., Johnson, D., Robinson, C., 2008. Cash grants in humanitarian assistance: a nongovernmental organization experience in Aceh, Indonesia, following the 2004 Indian Ocean Tsunami. Disaster Med. Public Health Preparedness 2 (2), 95–103.
- Drechsler, M., 2017a. Generating spatially optimized habitat in a trade-off between social optimality and budget efficiency. Conserv. Biol. 31, 221–225.
- Drechsler, M., 2017b. The impact of fairness on side payments and cost-effectiveness in agglomeration payments for biodiversity conservation. Ecol. Econ. 141, 127–135.
- Drechsler, M., Wätzold, F., Johst, K., Shogren, J.F., 2010. An agglomeration payment for costeffective biodiversity conservation in spatially structured landscapes. Resour. Energy Econ. 32, 261–275.
- Eberhard, R., Coggan, A., Jarvis, D., Hamman, E., Taylor, B., Baresi, U., ... Mayfield, H., 2021. Understanding the effectiveness of policy instruments to encourage adoption of farming practices to improve water quality for the Great Barrier Reef. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 172, 112793.
- Ejelöv, E., Harring, N., Hansla, A., Jagers, S., Nilsson, A., 2022. Push, pull, or inform-an empirical taxonomy of environmental policy support in Sweden. J. Publ. Policy 1–24.
- Elbakidze, M., Dawson, L., McDermott, C., Teitelbaum, S., Tysiachniouk, M., 2022. Biodiversity conservation through forest certification: key factors shaping national Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) standard-development processes in Canada, Sweden, and Russia. Ecol. Soc. 27 (1).
- Emiris, D.M., Marentakis, C.A., 2010. A unified classification ecosystem for auctions. Int. J. Oper. Res. Inf. Syst. 3, 53–74.
- Emissions Reduction Fund (ERF), 2022. Choosing a project type. 9 June 2021. Accessed 11 April 2022Australian Government, Clean Energy Regulator http://www. cleanenergyregulator.gov.au/ERF/Choosing-a-project-type.
- Engel, S., Pagiola, S., Wunder, S., 2008. Designing payments for environmental services in theory and practice: an overview of the issues. Ecol. Econ. 65, 663–674.
- Evans, M.C., 2018. Effective incentives for reforestation: lessons from Australia's carbon farming policies. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 32, 38–45.
- Everard, M., 2018. Conservation Reserve Program (CRP): Example of land retirement. In: Finlayson, C.M., Everard, M., Irvine, K., McInnes, R.J., Middleton, B.A., van Dam, A.A., Davidson, N.C. (Eds.), The Wetland Book. Springer, Netherlands, Dordrecht, pp. 895–899.
- Eyvindson, K., Kangas, A., 2016. Evaluating the required scenario set size for stochastic programming in forest management planning: incorporating inventory and growth model uncertainty. Can. J. For. Res. 46 (3), 340–347.
- Ferraro, P.J., 2008. Asymmetric information and contract design for payments for environmental services. Ecol. Econ. 65, 810–821.
- Fitzsimons, J., Cooke, B., 2021. Key questions for conservation tenders as a means for delivering biodiversity benefits on private land. Ecol. Manag. Restor. 22 (2), 110–114.
- Flanders, B., 2018. Reverse auction pilots for forest ecosystem services in rural and peri-urban areas. Spurring INnovations for forest eCosystem sERvices in Europe (SINCERE) Project. Bonn, Germany.
- Fleischman, F., Basant, S., Fischer, H., Gupta, D., Lopez, G.G., Kashwan, P., ... Schmitz, M., 2021. How politics shapes the outcomes of forest carbon finance. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 51, 7–14.
- Foley, J.A., Asner, G.P., Costa, M.H., Coe, M.T., DeFries, R., Gibbs, H.K., Snyder, P., 2007. Amazonia revealed: forest degradation and loss of ecosystem goods and services in the Amazon Basin. Front. Ecol. Environ. 5 (1), 25–32.
- Fooks, J.R., Higgins, N., Messer, K.D., Duke, J.M., Hellerstein, D., Lynch, L., 2016. Conserving spatially explicit benefits in ecosystem service markets: experimental tests of network bonuses and spatial targeting. Am. J. Agric. Econ. 98, 468–488.
- Franklin Jr., S.L., Pindyck, R.S., 2018. Tropical forests, tipping points, and the social cost of deforestation. Ecol. Econ. 153, 161–171.
- Garcia-Gonzalo, J., Bushenkov, V., McDill, M.E., Borges, J.G., 2014. A decision support system for assessing trade-offs between ecosystem management goals: an application in Portugal. Forests 6 (1), 65–87.
- Gifford, L., 2020. "You can't value what you can't measure": a critical look at forest carbon accounting. Clim. Chang. 161 (2), 291–306.
- Glebe, T.W., 2013. Conservation auctions: should information about environmental benefits be made public? Am. J. Agric. Econ. 95, 590–605.
- Glebe, T.W., 2022. The influence of contract length on the performance of sequential conservation auctions. Am. J. Agric. Econ. 104 (2), 739–764.
- Gómez-Baggethun, E., De Groot, R., Lomas, P.L., Montes, C., 2010. The history of ecosystem services in economic theory and practice: from early notions to markets and payment schemes. Ecol. Econ. 69 (6), 1209–1218.
- Gorelick, N., Hancher, M., Dixon, M., Ilyushchenko, S., Thau, D., Moore, R., 2017. Google Earth Engine: planetary-scale geospatial analysis for everyone. Remote Sens. Environ. 202, 18–27.
- Grafton, R., et al., 2021. A global analysis of the cost-efficiency of forest carbon sequestration. OECD Environment Working Papers, No. 185. OECD Publishing, Paris.

- Greenhalgh, S., Guiling, J., Selman, M., John, J., 2007. Paying for Environmental Performance: Using Reverse Auctions to Allocate Funding for Conservation. World Resource Institute.
- Groth, M., 2011. Cost-effective biodiversity conservation: procurement auctions and payment-by-results. EuroChoices 10, 32–37.
- Hailu, A., Schilizzi, S., 2004. Are auctions more efficient than fixed price schemes when bidders learn? Aust. J. Manag. 29 (2), 147–168.
- Hailu, A., Schilizzi, S., 2005. Learning in a "basket of crabs": an agent-based computational model of repeated conservation auctions. In: Lux, T., Reitz, S., Samanidou, E. (Eds.), Nonlinear Dynamics and Heterogeneous Interacting Agents. vol. 550. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 27–39.
- Hailu, A., Rolfe, J., Windle, J., Greiner, R., 2010. Auction scope, scale and pricing format: agent based simulation of the performance of a water tender. ICAART 2010 - Second International Conference on Agents and Artificial Intelligence, Proceedings. Institute for Systems and Technologies of Information, Control and Communication (INSTICC), Portugal.
- Hailu, A., Rolfe, J., Windle, J., Greiner, R., 2011. Auction design and performance: an agentbased simulation with endogenous participation. In: Filipe, J., Fred, A., Sharp, B. (Eds.), Agents and Artificial Intelligence. ICAART 2010. Comunications in Computer and Information Science. vol. 129. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 80–87.
- Hajkowicz, S., Higgins, A., Williams, K., Faith, D.P., Burton, M., 2007. Optimisation and the selection of conservation contracts. Aust. J. Agric. Res. Econ. 51, 39–56.
- Hellerstein, D.M., 2017. The US Conservation Reserve Program: the evolution of an enrollment mechanism. Land Use Policy 63, 601–610.
- Hellerstein, D., Higgins, N., 2010. The effective use of limited information: do bid maximums reduce procurement cost in asymmetric auctions? J. Agric. Resour. Econ. 39, 288–304.
- Hill, M.R.J., McMaster, D.G., Harrison, T., Hershmiller, A., Plews, T., 2011. A reverse auction for wetland restoration in the Assiniboine River Watershed, Saskatchewan. Can. J. Agric. Econ. 59, 245–258.
- Holmes, W.B., 2017. Environmental services auctions under regulatory threat. Land Use Policy 63, 584–591.
- Iftekhar, M.S., Latacz-Lohmann, U., 2017. How well do conservation auctions perform in achieving landscape-level outcomes?: a comparison of auction formats and bid selection criteria. Aust. J. Agric. Resour. Econ. 61, 557–575.
- Iftekhar, M.S., Tisdell, J.G., 2016. An agent based analysis of combinatorial bidding for spatially targeted multi-objective environmental programs. Environ. Resour. Econ. 64, 537–558.
- Iftekhar, M.S., Hailu, A., Lindner, R.K., 2012a. The effect of bidder heterogeneity on combinatorial conservation auction designs. Environ. Resour. Econ. 53, 137–157.
- Iftekhar, S., Hailu, A., Lindner, B., 2012b. Combinatorial auctions for procuring agrienvironmental services: a review of some design issues. Australas. Aust. J. Environ. Manag. 19, 79–90.
- Iftekhar, M.S., Hailu, A., Lindner, R.K., 2012c. Combinatorial auction designs for biodiversity conservation. Soc. Nat. Resour. 25, 965–979.
- Iftekhar, M.S., Hailu, A., Lindner, R.K., 2014. Does it pay to increase competition in combinatorial conservation auctions? Can. J. Agric. Econ. 62, 411–433.
- Iftekhar, M.S., Tisdell, J.G., Sprod, D., 2018. Can partial project selection improve conservation auction performances? Australas. Aust. J. Environ. Manag. 25, 212–232.
- Jack, B.K., Cardona Santos, E., 2017. The leakage and livelihood impacts of PES contracts: a targeting experiment in Malawi. Land Use Policy 63, 645–658.
- Jack, B.K., Leimona, B., Ferraro, P.J., 2009. A revealed preference approach to estimating supply curves for ecosystem services: use of auctions to set payments for soil erosion control in Indonesia. Conserv. Biol. 23, 359–367.
- Jackson, S., Palmer, L., McDonald, F., Bumpus, A., 2017. Cultures of carbon and the logic of care: the possibilities for carbon enrichment and its cultural signature. Ann. Am. Assoc. Geogr. 107 (4), 867–882.
- Jacobs, M., Rais, A., Pretzsch, H., 2021. How drought stress becomes visible upon detecting tree shape using terrestrial laser scanning (TLS). For. Ecol. Manag. 489, 118975.
- James, N., Lundberg, L., Sills, E., 2021. The implications of learning on bidding behavior in a repeated first price conservation auction with targeting. Strateg. Behav. Environ. 9 (1–2), 69–101.
- Jindal, R., Kerr, J.M., Ferraro, P.J., Swallow, B.M., 2013. Social dimensions of procurement auctions for environmental service contracts: evaluating tradeoffs between costeffectiveness and participation by the poor in rural Tanzania. Land Use Policy 31, 71–80.
- Juutinen, A., Mäntymaa, E., Ollikainen, M., 2013. Landowners' conservation motives and the size of information rents in environmental bidding systems. JFE 19, 128–148.
- Kawasaki, K., Fujie, T., Koito, K., Inoue, N., Sasaki, H., 2012. Conservation auctions and compliance: theory and evidence from laboratory experiments. Environ. Resour. Econ. 52, 157–179.
- Keenan, R.J., Pozza, G., Fitzsimons, J.A., 2019. Ecosystem services in environmental policy: barriers and opportunities for increased adoption. Ecosyst. Serv. 38, 100943.
- Keith, H., Vardon, M., Stein, J.A., Stein, J.L., Lindenmayer, D., 2017. Ecosystem accounts define explicit and spatial trade-offs for managing natural resources. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 1 (11), 1683–1692.
- Khalumba, M., Wünscher, T., Wunder, S., Büdenbender, M., Holm-Müller, K., 2014. Combining auctions and performance-based payments in a forest enrichment field trial in Western Kenya. Conserv. Biol. 28, 861–866.
- Kindu, M., Schneider, T., Teketay, D., Knoke, T., 2016. Changes of ecosystem service values in response to land use/land cover dynamics in Munessa-Shashemene landscape of the Ethiopian highlands. Sci. Total Environ. 547, 137–147.
- Kits, G.J., Adamowicz, W.L., Boxall, P.C., 2014. Do conservation auctions crowd out voluntary environmentally friendly activities? Ecol. Econ. 105, 118–123.
- Kleijn, D., Bommarco, R., Fijen, T.P., Garibaldi, L.A., Potts, S.G., Van Der Putten, W.H., 2019. Ecological intensification: bridging the gap between science and practice. Trends Ecol. Evol. 34 (2), 154–166.
- Klimek, S., Richter gen. Kemmermann, A., Steinmann, H.-H., Freese, J., Isselstein, J., 2008. Rewarding farmers for delivering vascular plant diversity in managed grasslands: a transdisciplinary case-study approach. Biol. Conserv. 141, 2888–2897.

- Knoke, T., Hildebrandt, P., Klein, D., Mujica, R., Moog, M., Mosandl, R., 2008. Financial compensation and uncertainty: using mean-variance rule and stochastic dominance to derive conservation payments for secondary forests. Can. J. For. Res. 38, 3033–3046.
- Knoke, T., Kindu, M., Jarisch, I., Gosling, E., Friedrich, S., Bödeker, K., Paul, C., 2020. How considering multiple criteria, uncertainty scenarios and biological interactions may influence the optimal silvicultural strategy for a mixed forest. Forest Policy Econ. 118, 102239.
- Knoke, T., Kindu, M., Schneider, T., Gobakken, T., 2021. Inventory of forest attributes to support the integration of non-provisioning ecosystem services and biodiversity into forest planning—from collecting data to providing information. Curr. For. Rep. 7, 38–58.
- Knoke, T., Gosling, E., Reith, E., Gerique, A., Pohle, P., Valle Carrión, L., ... Paul, C., 2022. Confronting sustainable intensification with uncertainty and extreme values on smallholder tropical farms. Sustain. Sci. 1–18.
- Kragt, M.E., Dumbrell, N.P., Blackmore, L., 2017. Motivations and barriers for Western Australian broad-acre farmers to adopt carbon farming. Environ. Sci. Pol. 73, 115–123.
- Krawczyk, M., Bartczak, A., Hanley, N., Stenger, A., 2016. Buying spatially-coordinated ecosystem services: an experiment on the role of auction format and communication. Ecol. Econ. 124 (124), 36–48.
- Krieger, D.J., 2001. The Economic Value of Forest Ecosystem Services: A Review. The Wilderness Society, 1615 Street, NW, Washington (40 pp.).
- Kuo, Y.F., Lin, C.H., Shen, T.H., 2018. Anchoring effects on backers' pledges in crowdfunding. Proceedings of the 5th Multidisciplinary International Social Networks Conference, pp. 1–5.
- Lacava, T., Bernardini Papalia, L., Paradiso, I.F., Proto, M., Pergola, N., 2020. On the barriers limiting the adoption of the Earth Observation Copernicus data and services and their integration with non-conventional (eg citizen) observations: the EU CoRdiNet project contribution. EGU General Assembly Conference Abstracts, p. 18649.
- Latacz-Lohmann, U., Hamsvoort, C.P.C.M., 1998. Auctions as a means of creating a market for public goods from agriculture. J. Agric. Econ. 49, 334–345.
- Lataz-Lohmann, U., Schilizzi, S., 2007. Quantifying the Benefits of Conservation Auctions. The Agricultural Economics Society and the European Association of Agricultural Economists, p. 6.
- Latacz-Lohmann, U., van der Hamsvoort, C., 1997. Auctioning conservation contracts: a theoretical analysis and an application. Am. J. Agric. Econ. 79, 407–418.
- Latacz-Lohmann, U., Schilizzi, S., Breustedt, G., 2011. Auctioning outcome-based conservation contracts. 51st Annual Conference, German Association of Agricultural Economists (GEWISOLA), September 28–30, 2011, Halle, Germany.
- Leimona, B., Carrasco, L., 2017. Auction winning, social dynamics and non-compliance in a payment for ecosystem services scheme in Indonesia. Land Use Policy 63, 632–644.
- Lennox, G.D., Armsworth, P.R., 2013. The ability of landowners and their cooperatives to leverage payments greater than opportunity costs from conservation contracts. Conserv. Biol. 27, 625–634.
- Leroy, D., Barrasa Garcia, S., 2021. Which ecosystem services are really integrated into local culture? Farmers' perceptions of the Columbian and Venezuelan paramos. Hum. Ecol. 49, 385–401.
- Lewis, D.J., Polasky, S., 2018. An auction mechanism for the optimal provision of ecosystem services under climate change. J. Environ. Econ. Manag. 92, 20–34.
- Liu, P., Swallow, S.K., 2019. Providing multiple units of a public good using individualized price auctions: experimental evidence. J. Assoc. Environ. Resour. Econ. 6, 1–42.
- Liu, Z., Xu, J., Yang, X., Tu, Q., Hanley, N., Kontoleon, A., 2019. Performance of agglomeration bonuses in conservation auctions: lessons from a framed field experiment. Environ. Resour. Econ. 73, 843–869.
- Lowell, K., Drohan, J., Hajek, C., Beverly, C., Lee, M., 2007. A science-driven market-based instrument for determining the cost of environmental services: a comparison of two catchments in Australia. Ecol. Econ. 64 (1), 61–69.
- Lundberg, L., Persson, U.M., Alpizar, F., Lindgren, K., 2018. Context matters: exploring the cost-effectiveness of fixed payments and procurement auctions for PES. Ecol. Econ. 146, 347–358.
- Lundhede, T., Strange, N., Termansen, M., Jacobsen, J.B., Vedel, S.E., Thorsen, B.J., 2019. Using Data Envelopment Analysis on Auction Data for Biodiversity Conservation. Frederiksberg: Institut for Fødevare- og Ressourceøkonomi, Københavns Universitet. IFRO Rapport, No. 284.
- Lundhede, T.H., Heilmann-Clausen, J., Jürgensen, C., Olsen, T.B., Thorsen, B.J., 2022a. Testing a new reverse auction for biodiversity conservation actions among small holders. IFRO Working Paper.
- Lundhede, T., Hedemark, T., Wunder, S., Katila, P., Thorsen, B.J., 2022b. Deliverable 4.1: assessing the upscaling potential of SINCERE innovation actions using a Theory of Change structure. Spurring innovations for forest ecosystem services in Europe (SIN-CERE). H202-RUR-05-2017, project no. 773702. https://sincereforests.eu/wp-content/ uploads/2022/02/Lundhede-et-al-D4.1-ToC-Upscaling-Final.pdf.
- Maljković, J.D., 2016. New public management and selection of public sector projects. Eur. Proj. Manag. J. 6 (2), 25–32.
- Manning, P., Van Der Plas, F., Soliveres, S., Allan, E., Maestre, F.T., Mace, G., ... Fischer, M., 2018. Redefining ecosystem multifunctionality. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 2 (3), 427–436.
- Mariel, P., Hoyos, D., Meyerhoff, J., Czajkowski, M., Dekker, T., Glenk, K., Jacobsen, J.B., Liebe, U., Olsen, S.B., Sagebiel, J., 2021. Experimental design. Environmental valuation with discrete choice experiments. Springer, pp. 37–49.
- Mariola, M.J., 2012. Farmers, trust, and the market solution to water pollution: the role of social embeddedness in water quality trading. J. Rural. Stud. 28, 577–589.
- Marques, S., Bushenkov, V., Lotov, A., Borges, J.G., 2021. Building Pareto frontiers for ecosystem services tradeoff analysis in forest management planning integer programs. Forests 12 (9), 1244.
- Martínez, M.L., Pérez-Maqueo, O., Vázquez, G., Castillo-Campos, G., García-Franco, J., Mehltreter, K., Equihua, M., Landgrave, R., 2009. Effects of land use change on biodiversity and ecosystem services in tropical montane cloud forests of Mexico. For. Ecol. Manag. 258, 1856–1863.

- Martos, V., Ahmad, A., Cartujo, P., Ordoñez, J., 2021. Ensuring agricultural sustainability through remote sensing in the era of agriculture 5.0. Appl. Sci. 11 (13), 5911.
- Mayer, A.L., Shuster, W.D., Beaulieu, J.J., Hopton, M.E., Rhea, L.K., Roy, A.H., Thurston, H.W., 2012. Environmental reviews and case studies: building green infrastructure via citizen participation: a six-year study in the Shepherd Creek (Ohio). Environ. Pract. 14, 57–67.
- McAfee, K., 2012. The contradictory logic of global ecosystem services markets. Dev. Chang. 43 (1), 105–131.
- McGrath, F.L., Carrasco, L.R., Leimona, B., 2017. How auctions to allocate payments for ecosystem services contracts impact social equity. Ecosyst. Serv. 25, 44–55.
- MEA, 2005. Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis; A Report of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Island Press, Washington, DC (155 pp.).
- Meckling, J., Allan, B.B., 2020. The evolution of ideas in global climate policy. Nat. Clim. Chang. 10 (5), 434–438.
- Messer, K.D., Duke, J.M., Lynch, L., Li, T., 2017. When Does Public Information Undermine the Efficiency of Reverse Auctions for the Purchase of Ecosystem Services? Applied Economics & Statistics Research Report. University of Delaware (RR16-04).
- Milgrom, P.R., 1979. The Structure of Information in Competitive Bidding. Stanford University. Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D.G., Grp, P., 2009. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement (Reprinted from Annals of Internal Medicine). Phys. Ther. 2009 (89), 873–880.
- Munz, K.P., Jung, M.H., Alter, A.L., 2020. Name similarity encourages generosity: a field experiment in email personalization. Mark. Sci. 39, 1071–1091.
- Narloch, U.L., Pascual, U., Drucker, A.G., 2011. Cost-effectiveness targeting under multiple conservation goals and equity considerations in the Andes. Environ. Conserv. 38, 417–425.
- Narloch, U., Pascual, U., Drucker, A.G., 2013. How to achieve fairness in payments for ecosystem services?: insights from agrobiodiversity conservation auctions. Land Use Policy 35, 107–118.
- Narloch, U., Drucker, A.G., Pascual, U., 2017. What role for cooperation in conservation tenders? Paying farmer groups in the High Andes. Land Use Policy 63, 659–671.
- Nemes, V., La Nauze, A., Walsh, C.J., Fletcher, T.D., Bos, D.G., RossRakesh, S., Stoneham, G., 2015. Saving a creek one bid at a time: a uniform price auction for urban stormwater retention. Urban Water J. 13, 232–241.
- Nguyen, C., Latacz-Lohmann, U., Hanley, N., Schilizzi, S., Iftekhar, S., 2022. Spatial Coordination Incentives for landscape-scale environmental management: a systematic review. Land Use Policy 114, 105936.
- Obeng, E.A., Dakurah, I., Oduro, K.A., Obiri, B.D., 2021. Local communities' preferences and economic values for ecosystem services from Mole National Park in Ghana: a choice experiment approach. Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 32, e01904.
- Oberhauser, D., 2019. Blockchain for environmental governance: can smart contracts reinforce payments for ecosystem services in Namibia? Front. Blockchain 2, 21.
- Pacheco-Vega, R., 2020. Environmental regulation, governance, and policy instruments, 20 years after the stick, carrot, and sermon typology. J. Environ. Policy Plan. 22 (5), 620–635.
- Palm-Forster, L.H., Messer, K.D., 2021. Experimental and behavioral economics to inform agri-environmental programs and policies. Handbook of Agricultural Economics. vol. 5. Elsevier, pp. 4331–4406.
- Palm-Forster, L.H., Swinton, S.M., Redder, T.M., DePinto, J.V., Boles, C.M., 2016a. Using conservation auctions informed by environmental performance models to reduce agricultural nutrient flows into Lake Erie. J. Great Lakes Res. 42, 1357–1371.
- Palm-Forster, L.H., Swinton, S.M., Lupi, F., Shupp, R.S., 2016b. Too burdensome to bid: transaction costs and pay-for-performance conservation. Am. J. Agric. Econ. 98, 1314–1333.
- Palm-Forster, L.H., Swinton, S.M., Shupp, R.S., 2017. Farmer preferences for conservation incentives that promote voluntary phosphorus abatement in agricultural watersheds. J. Soil Water Conserv. 72, 493–505.
- Pannell, D.J., 2008. Public benefits, private benefits, and policy mechanism choice for landuse change for environmental benefits. Land Econ. 84 (2), 225–240.
- Pant, K.P., 2015. Uniform-price reverse auction for estimating the costs of reducing open-field burning of rice residue in Nepal. Environ. Resour. Econ. 62, 567–581.
- Parkhurst, G.M., Shogren, J.F., Crocker, T., 2016. Tradable set-aside requirements (TSARs): conserving spatially dependent environmental amenities. Environ. Resour. Econ. 63 (4), 719–744.
- Pascual, A., Tupinambá-Simões, F., Guerra-Hernández, J., Bravo, F., 2022. High-resolution planet satellite imagery and multi-temporal surveys to predict risk of tree mortality in tropical eucalypt forestry. J. Environ. Manag. 310, 114804.
- Paul, C., Weber, M., Knoke, T., 2017. Agroforestry versus farm mosaic systems–comparing land-use efficiency, economic returns and risks under climate change effects. Sci. Total Environ. 587, 22–35.
- Perfect-Mrema, J., 2022. Ostrom and the commons: critical appreciation and interrogation in the context of forest management in Tanzania. Environ. Sci. Pol. 127, 77–86.
- Pirard, R., Lapeyre, R., 2014. Classifying market-based instruments for ecosystem services: a guide to the literature jungle. Ecosyst. Serv. 9, 106–114.
- Polasky, S., Lewis, D.J., Plantinga, A.J., Nelson, E., 2014. Implementing the optimal provision of ecosystem services. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 111, 6248–6253.
- Pope, D.G., Pope, J.C., Sydnor, J.R., 2015. Focal points and bargaining in housing markets. Games Econ. Behav. 93, 89–107.
- Primmer, E., 2017. Institutional constraints on conservation auction: organizational mandate, competencies and practices. Land Use Policy 63, 621–631.
- Rabotyagov, S.S., Tóth, S.F., Ettl, G.J., 2013. Testing the design variables of ECOSEL: a market mechanism for forest ecosystem services. For. Sci. 59, 303–321.
- Rammer, W., Seidl, R., 2019. Harnessing deep learning in ecology: an example predicting bark beetle outbreaks. Front. Plant Sci. 10, 1327.
- Reeson, A.F., Rodriguez, L.C., Whitten, S.M., Williams, K., Nolles, K., Windle, J., Rolfe, J., 2011. Adapting auctions for the provision of ecosystem services at the landscape scale. Ecol. Econ. 70, 1621–1627.

- Regan, C.M., Connor, J.D., Summers, D.M., Settre, C., O'Connor, P.J., Cavagnaro, T.R., 2020. The influence of crediting and permanence periods on Australian forest-based carbon offset supply. Land Use Policy 97, 104800.
- Requate, T., 2005. Dynamic incentives by environmental policy instruments—a survey. Ecol. Econ. 54 (2–3), 175–195.
- Reynolds, M.D., Sullivan, B.L., Hallstein, E., Matsumoto, S., Kelling, S., Merrifield, M., Fink, D., Johnston, A., Hochachka, W.M., Bruns, N.E., Reiter, M.E., Veloz, S., Hickey, C., Elliott, N., Martin, L., Fitzpatrick, J.W., Spraycar, P., Golet, G.H., McColl, C., Low, C., Morrison, S.A., 2017. Dynamic conservation for migratory species. Sci. Adv. 3, e1700707.
- Rode, J., Wittmer, H., Emerton, L., Schröter-Schlaack, C., 2016. 'Ecosystem service opportunities': a practice-oriented framework for identifying economic instruments to enhance biodiversity and human livelihoods. J. Nat. Conserv. 33, 35–47.
- Rodriguez-Ward, D., Larson, A.M., Ruesta, H.G., 2018. Top-down, bottom-up and sideways: the multilayered complexities of multi-level actors shaping forest governance and REDD + arrangements in Madre de Dios, Peru. Environ. Manag. 62 (1), 98–116.
- Roesch-McNally, G.E., Rabotyagov, S., Tyndall, J.C., Ettl, G., Tóth, S.F., 2016. Auctioning the forest: a qualitative approach to exploring stakeholder responses to bidding on forest ecosystem services. Small Scale For. 15, 321–333.
- Rolfe, J., Windle, J., 2010. Comparing a best management practice scorecard with an auction metric to select proposals in a water quality tender. 54th Annual Australian Agricultural and Resource Economics Society Conference, 10–12th February, Adelaide.
- Rolfe, J., Windle, J., 2011. Using auction mechanisms to reveal costs for water quality improvements in Great Barrier Reef catchments in Australia. Agric. Water Manag. 98, 493–501.
- Rolfe, J., Windle, J., McCosker, J., 2009. Testing and implementing the use of multiple bidding rounds in conservation auctions: a case study application. Can. J. Agric. Econ. 57, 287–303.
- Rolfe, J., Whitten, S., Windle, J., 2017. The Australian experience in using tenders for conservation. Land Use Policy 63, 611–620.
- Rolfe, J., Schilizzi, S., Boxall, P., Latacz-Lohmann, U., Iftekhar, S., Star, M., O'Connor, P., 2018. Identifying the causes of low participation rates in conservation tenders. IRERE 12, 1–45.
- Rolfe, J., Schilizzi, S., Iftekhar, M.S., 2021. Increasing environmental outcomes with conservation tenders: the participation challenge. Conserv. Lett. e12856.
- Rolfe, J., Schilizzi, S., Iftekhar, M.S., 2022. Increasing environmental outcomes with conservation tenders: the participation challenge. Conserv. Lett. 15, e12856.
- Rousseau, S., Moons, E., 2008. The potential of auctioning contracts for conservation policy. Eur. J. For. Res. 127, 183–194.
- Rutt, R.L., Myers, R., Ramcilovic-Suominen, S., McDermott, C., 2018. FLEGT: another 'forestry fad'? Environ. Sci. Pol. 89, 266–272.
- Schägner, J.P., Brander, L., Maes, J., Hartje, V., 2013. Mapping ecosystem services' values: current practice and future prospects. Ecosyst. Serv. 4, 33–46.
- Schenuit, F., Colvin, R., Fridahl, M., McMullin, B., Reisinger, A., Sanchez, D.L., ... Geden, O., 2021. Carbon dioxide removal policy in the making: assessing developments in 9 OECD cases. Front. Clim. 3, 7.
- Schilizzi, S.G., 2017. An overview of laboratory research on conservation auctions. Land Use Policy 63, 572–583.
- Schilizzi, S., Latacz-Lohmann, U., 2011. Evaluating conservation auctions with limited information: the policy maker's predicament. Working Paper 1103. School of Agricultural and Resource Economics. University of Australia, Crawley, Australia (33 pp.).
- Schilizzi, S., Latacz-Lohmann, U., 2012a. Conservation tenders: linking theory and experiments for policy assessment*. Aust. J. Agric. Resour. Econ. 57, 15–37.
- Schilizzi, S., Latacz-Lohmann, U., 2012b. Evaluating conservation auctions with unknown bidder costs: the Scottish fishing vessel decommissioning program. Land Econ. 88, 658–673.
- Schulz, T., Lieberherr, E., Zabel, A., 2022. How national bioeconomy strategies address governance challenges arising from forest-related trade-offs. J. Environ. Policy Plan. 24 (1), 123–136.
- Sebald, J., Senf, C., Seidl, R., 2021. Human or natural? Landscape context improves the attribution of forest disturbances mapped from Landsat in Central Europe. Remote Sens. Environ. 262, 112502.
- Sharma, B.P., Cho, S.-H., Yu, T.E., 2019. Designing cost-efficient payments for forest-based carbon sequestration: an auction-based modeling approach. Forest Policy Econ. 104, 182–194.
- Smith, E.C., Swallow, S.K., 2010. Generating Revenues From WTP for Ecosystem Restoration: An Auction Experiment on Public Goods.
- Smith, E.C., Swallow, S.K., 2013. Lindahl pricing for public goods and experimental auctions for the environment. Encyclopedia of Energy, Natural Resource and Environmental Economics, pp. 45–51.
- Standish, R.J., Prober, S.M., 2020. Potential benefits of biodiversity to Australian vegetation projects registered with the Emissions Reduction Fund—is there a carbon-biodiversity trade-off? Ecol. Manag. Restor. 21 (3), 165–172.
- Stoneham, G., Chaudhri, V., Ha, A., Strappazzon, L., 2003. Auctions for conservation contracts: an empirical examination of Victoria's BushTender trial. Aust. J. Agric. Res. Econ. 47, 477–500.
- Streck, C., 2021. How voluntary carbon markets can drive climate ambition. J. Energy Nat. Resour. Law 39 (3), 367–374.

- Summers, D.M., Regan, C.M., Settre, C., Connor, J.D., O'Connor, P., Abbott, H., ... Cavagnaro, T.R., 2021. Current carbon prices do not stack up to much land use change, despite bundled ecosystem service co-benefits. Glob. Chang. Biol. 27 (12), 2744–2762.
- Swallow, S.K., 2013. Demand-side value for ecosystem services and implications for innovative markets: experimental perspectives on the possibility of private markets for public goods. J. Agric. Resour. Econ. 42, 33–56.
- Takahashi, T., Tsuge, T., Shibata, S., 2022. Innovativeness of Japanese forest owners regarding the monetization of forest ecosystem services. Sustainability 14 (4), 2119.
- Takeda, M., Takahashi, D., Shobayashi, M., 2015. Collective action vs. conservation auction: lessons from a social experiment of a collective auction of water conservation contracts in Japan. Land Use Policy 46, 189–200.
- Thiene, M., Franceschinis, C., Scarpa, R., 2019. Congestion management in protected areas: accounting for respondents' inattention and preference heterogeneity in stated choice data. Eur. Rev. Agric. Econ. 46 (5), 834–861.
- Thorsen, B.J., Strange, N., Jacobsen, J.B., Termansen, M., Lundhede, T., 2018. Auction Mechanisms for Setting Aside Forest for Biodiversity. University of Copenhagen, Frederiksberg (53 pp.).
- Tóth, S.F., Rabotyagov, S.S., Ettl, G.J., 2009. Experimental testbeds for ECOSEL: a market framework for private provision of forest ecosystem services. Agricultural & Applied Economics Association's 2009 AAEA & ACCI Joint Annual Meeting.
- Tóth, S.F., Ettl, G.J., Rabotyagov, S.S., 2010. ECOSEL: an auction mechanism for forest ecosystem services. Int. J. Math. Comput. For. Nat. Res. Sci. 2, 99–116.
- Tóth, S.F., Ettl, G.J., Könnyű, N., Rabotyagov, S.S., Rogers, L.W., Comnick, J.M., 2013. ECOSEL: multi-objective optimization to sell forest ecosystem services. Forest Policy Econ. 35, 73–82.
- Troy, A., Wilson, M.A., 2006. Mapping ecosystem services: practical challenges and opportunities in linking GIS and value transfer. Ecol. Econ. 60, 435–449.
- Uchida, E., Swallow, S.K., Gold, A., Opaluch, J., Kafle, A., Merrill, N., Michaud, C., Gill, C.A., 2018. Integrating watershed hydrology and economics to establish a local market for water quality improvement: a field experiment. Ecol. Econ. 146, 17–25.
- Ulber, L., Klimek, S., Steinmann, H.-H., Isselstein, J., Groth, M., 2011. Implementing and evaluating the effectiveness of a payment scheme for environmental services from agricultural land. Environ. Conserv. 38, 464–472.
- Valcu-Lisman, A.M., Gassman, P.W., Arritt, R., Campbell, T., Herzmann, D.E., 2017. Costeffectiveness of reverse auctions for watershed nutrient reductions in the presence of climate variability: an empirical approach for the Boone River watershed. J. Soil Water Conserv. 72, 280–295.
- van Oosterzee, P., Liu, H., Preece, N.D., 2020. Cost benefits of forest restoration in a tropical grazing landscape: Thiaki rainforest restoration project. Glob. Environ. Chang. 63, 102105.
- Villamayor-Tomas, S., Thiel, A., Amblard, L., Zikos, D., Blanco, E., 2019. Diagnosing the role of the state for local collective action: types of action situations and policy instruments. Environ. Sci. Pol. 97, 44–57.
- Vogt, N., 2015. Environmental risk negatively impacts trust and reciprocity in conservation contracts: evidence from a laboratory experiment. Environ. Resour. Econ. 62, 417–431.
- Vogt, N., Reeson, A.F., Bizer, K., 2013. Communication, competition and social gift exchange in an auction for public good provision. Ecol. Econ. 93, 11–19.
- Wainwright, W., Drucker, A.G., Maxted, N., Brehm, J.M., Ng'uni, D., Moran, D., 2019. Estimating in situ conservation costs of Zambian crop wild relatives under alternative conservation goals. Land Use Policy 81, 632–643.
- Whitten, S.M., 2017. Designing and implementing conservation tender metrics: twelve core considerations. Land Use Policy 63, 561–571.
- Whitten, S.M., Reeson, A., Windle, J., Rolfe, J., 2013. Designing conservation tenders to support landholder participation: a framework and case study assessment. Ecosyst. Serv. 6, 82–92.

Whitten, S.M., Wünscher, T., Shogren, J.F., 2017. Conservation tenders in developed and developing countries – status quo, challenges and prospects. Land Use Policy 63, 552–560.

Wichmann, B., Boxall, P., Wilson, S., Pergery, O., 2017. Auctioning risky conservation contracts. Environ. Resour. Econ. 68, 1111–1144.

- Windle, J., Rolfe, J., 2008. Exploring the efficiencies of using competitive tenders over fixed price grants to protect biodiversity in Australian rangelands. Land Use Policy 25, 388–398.
- Windle, J., Rolfe, J., McCosker, J., Lingard, A., 2009. A conservation auction for landscape linkage in the southern Desert Uplands, Queensland. Rangel. J. 31, 127.
- Wolfstetter, E., 1996. Auctions: an introduction. J. Econ. Surv. 10, 367-420.
- Wunder, S., 2015. Revisiting the concept of payments for environmental services. Ecol. Econ. 117, 234–243.
- Wunder, S., Börner, J., Ezzine-de-Blas, D., Feder, S., Pagiola, S., 2020. Payments for environmental services: past performance and pending potentials. Ann. Rev. Resour. Econ. 12, 209–234.
- Wünscher, T., Wunder, S., 2017. Conservation tenders in low-income countries: opportunities and challenges. Land Use Policy 63, 672–678.
- Yang, Y., 2014. On the Design of Group Buying and Crowdfunding Mechanisms. (Doctoral dissertation)The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong.
- Zhou, Q., Shao, X., Jiang, P., Xie, T., Hu, J., Shu, L., et al., 2018. A multi-objective robust optimization approach for engineering design under interval uncertainty. Eng. Comput. 35 (2), 580–603.